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During the year under review, the business environment continued to be challenging with soft demand and cautious 
inventory management of our customers. It has led to the volatile demand globally and hence the decline in sales for 
this fiscal year. However, it is worth noting that while the US market was slowed down, the market in Europe provided 
some promising growth during the year.

Sales revenue for the year decreased by 4% to HK$1,126 million as compared to HK$1,179 million in the previous 
year. Nevertheless, the Group took proactive measures to manage the unfavorable market conditions and this proved 
fruitful with sales revenue starting to improve from the second half of this fiscal year. Average selling price also showed 
a moderate increase due to a lower proportion of sales in price sensitive products during the year.

Backed by our cost control measures, the gross profit margin for the year remains at 18% in the fiscal year of 2017. We 
have continued to manage our operations with improvements in productivity and processes to counter the cost pressure 
under the escalating cost trend in the manufacturing operations. The implementation of our new production planning 
system has also improved the order planning processes and efficiency in our entire supply chain.

For the year under review, the Group recorded a net profit of HK$6 million as compared to a profit of HK$34 million in 
previous year.

The Group maintains a similar manufacturing capacity portfolio ratio between its overseas and local plants in China 
during the year under review. The production from the overseas plants accounted for 63% of our global output and that 
of the China plants accounted for the remaining 37% during the year. We continued to maintain the production 
capacity and improve the productivity of the plants during the year.

In February 2017, the Group disposed of an investment property in Hong Kong at a consideration of HK$19 million. 
We decided to divest it as we see the sale of the property can deliver return to the Group.

Having considered our cash position and the upcoming investment needs, the Board proposed a special dividend of 
HK$0.05 per share for the fiscal year ended 30 June 2017.

Looking ahead, we believe we have seen the bottom of the challenging business environment. While we expect 
operating environment challenges and the volatile demand to continue, we do see business generally coming back. We 
are cautiously optimistic that we are prepared operationally to improve our performance ahead. As such, we take on a 
prudent approach to invest in necessary machineries for efficiency improvement and capacity expansion in the 
upcoming fiscal year.

We shall continue to optimize our manufacturing plants’ operational capacity to better serve the business needs and 
respond to the fluctuating demand in a timely manner. We shall also look for recalibrating our global capacity and 
expand our China capacity in Long Nan Jiangxi Province in China. Our business strategy will be constantly evaluated to 
ensure that our operations are cost effective, with an ultimate goal of achieving long term and sustainable growth.

Our first Environmental, Social and Governance report is set to be published in the fourth quarter of calendar year 
2017.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to take this opportunity to thank our employees for their hard work and 
contributions to the Group, as well as our clients and business associates for their continued support.

Wong Chung Chong
Chairman

24 August 2017
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The Group’s operational focus is in its core Manufacturing activity, together with a Corporate cost centre.

Revenue Profit (loss/expenses)

2017 2016 2017 2016

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Manufacturing 1,126,008 1,179,025 24,894 55,712

Corporate – – (16,443) (15,768)
     

1,126,008 1,179,025 8,451 39,944
     

For the year ended 30 June 2017, the sales revenue of the Group decreased by 4% to HK$1,126 million from HK$1,179 

million of sales revenue in fiscal 2016. Profit after taxation declined by 83%, from HK$34.2 million to HK$6 million 

during the year.

MANUFACTURING

Our first half accounted for HK$535 million of sales as compared to HK$618 million in 2016. In our second half, we 

recorded HK$591 million of sales as compared to HK$561 million in 2016. The drop in the sales revenue in the first 

half reflected the softness of demand in the US market and the cautious inventory management in the supply chain. This 

phenomenon is not persistent and sales increased with orders returned gradually in the second half of this fiscal year.

In monetary terms, 53% of our sales were to the US market whilst the sales to the EU represented 33% and the rest of 

the world accounted for 14%. Average selling price shows a moderate increase due to a lower proportion of sales in 

price sensitive products during the year.

In responding to the softness of demand since the second half of last fiscal year, we have largely maintained the 

production capacity of the manufacturing facilities during the year. The overseas plants accounted for 63% of the global 

production output whilst China accounted for the remaining 37% during the year.

Gross profit margin maintained at 18% during the year. Operating environment continues to be challenging due to the 

escalating cost trend in the manufacturing operations. We have continued to manage our operations with productivity 

and processes improvements to counter this cost pressure and minimize the cost impact to the gross profit margin.

The general and administrative expenses increased by 11% during the year. Such increase is mainly due to the increase 

in staff costs arising from additional staff and managers for our operations and business development of the Group. 

Additional professional fee was also incurred for the implementation of order planning and management system to 

improve the order planning process and efficiency in our entire supply chain. While the increase in general and 

administrative expenses has impacted the financial performance of the Group in the short term, we believe these 

investments in expertise and systems will provide us a solid foundation to grow the business in the long run.
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CORPORATE

The costs attributable to our corporate cost centre for the year amounted to HK$16.4 million as compared to HK$15.8 
million in the previous year.

FINANCIAL POSITION

The financial position of the Group remains healthy with shareholders’ funds standing at HK$546 million as at 30 June 
2017 compared with HK$558 million at the previous year end.

In December 2016, the Group entered a sale and purchase agreement to dispose of an investment property in Hong 
Kong at a consideration of HK$19 million. The sale transaction was completed in February 2017.

Bank balances and cash stood at HK$133 million whilst credit facilities available to the Group amounted to HK$149 
million and gearing remained at an insignificant level.

Inventory turnover period reduced to 57 days as compared to 61 days in previous year which is mainly due to the 
improvement in inventory control management.

Capital expenditure during the year amounted to HK$34 million which was mainly spent on machineries and leasehold 
improvement for factories.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates of Euro, HK dollars, RMB, US dollars and Thai Baht. 
Majority of the sales revenue is denominated in US dollars, the foreign exchange exposure in respect of US dollars 
against HK dollars is considered minimal as HK dollars are pegged with US dollars. The Group manages its foreign 
exchange exposure by performing regular review and by taking prudent measures to minimize the currency translation 
risk.

OUTLOOK & FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

Looking ahead, we do see the business generally coming back. Market demands continue to be volatile making speed 
and flexibility often the major factors in supply chain decisions. Weighing scale, costs and service, over the next year, 
we will look for recalibrating our global capacity and expand our China capacity in Long Nan Jiangxi Province to 
sustain and grow our business for the long term. Together with our continuous effort to improve the productivity and 
efficiency of our existing plants and to optimize the overall planning and business process, we believe we are well 
positioned to improve our performance going forward.

Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth Wong Kai Chung, Kevin
Managing Director Vice Chairman

24 August 2017
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The Group continues to commit itself to maintaining high standards of corporate governance principles and practices 
with an emphasis on enhancing transparency and accountability and ensuring the application of these principles and 
practices within the Group and thereby, enhancing shareholders value and benefiting our stakeholders at large.

The Company has, throughout the year under review, complied with the code provisions (“Code Provisions”) as set out 
in the Corporate Governance Code, Appendix 14 to the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”), except for the following deviations:

•	 A.4.1	—	Non-executive	Directors	of	 the	Company	are	not	appointed	 for	a	 specific	 term.	They	are,	however,	
subject	 to	 retirement	by	 rotation	and	re-election	at	 the	annual	general	meetings	of	 the	Company	at	 least	once	
every	three	years	in	accordance	with	the	Company’s	Bye-laws.

•	 A.4.2	—	The	Chairman	shall	not,	while	holding	such	office,	be	subject	 to	 retirement	by	 rotation	or	 taken	 into	
account in determining the number of Directors to retire in each year. In the opinion of the Board, it is important 
for the stability and growth of the Company that there is, and is seen to be, continuity of leadership in the role of 
Chairman and, in consequence, the Board is of the view that the Chairman should not be subject to retirement by 
rotation or hold office for a limited term at the present time.

The Board is pleased to present the key corporate governance principles and practices followed by the Company during 
the year.

Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance
Corporate Governance Practices 
adopted by the Company

A DIRECTORS
A.1 The Board

Code Principle
The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the issuer; and be responsible for 
directing and supervising the company’s affairs. The Board should take decisions objectively in the best 
interests of the issuer, and should regularly review the contribution required from a director to perform 
his responsibilities to the Company.
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Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance
Corporate Governance Practices 
adopted by the Company

A.1.1 •	 Regular	board	meetings	at	least	
four times a year. ✓

•	 The	Board	held	four	regular	meetings	during	the	
year ended 30 June 2017.

•	 Details	of	Directors’	attendance	records	are	set	out	
below:

Executive Directors Attendance
Wong Chung Chong
 (Chairman)(Note 1) 4/4
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
 (Managing Director)(Note 1) 4/4 
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin
 (Vice Chairman)(Note 1) 4/4

Non-executive Directors
Fung Wai Yiu 3/4
Lucas A.M. Laureys(Note 2) 0/4
Herman Van de Velde 4/4

Independent Non-executive Directors
Marvin Bienenfeld 2/4
Chow Yu Chun, Alexander 4/4
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 3/4
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 4/4
Lin Sun Mo, Willy 4/4

Notes:

1. Mr. Wong Chung Chong is the father of Mr. Wong Kai 
Chi, Kenneth and Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin. Mr. Wong 
Kai Chi, Kenneth is the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kai 
Chung, Kevin.

2. Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys was absent from the meetings 
during the year for personal reasons.

A.1.2 •	 A l l 	 d i r e c t o r s 	 be 	 g i v en 	 an	
opportunity to include matters 
in the agenda for regular board 
meetings.

✓
•	 Regular	Board	meetings	are	 scheduled	at	 least	3	

months  i n  advance  to  g i ve  D i r ec to r s  t he 
opportunity to include matters in the agenda.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Top Form International Limited Annual Report 20178

Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance
Corporate Governance Practices 
adopted by the Company

A.1.3 •	 Notice	of	 at	 least	 14	days	be	
g i v e n  f o r  r e g u l a r  b o a r d 
meetings. ✓

•	 At	least	14	days	formal	notice	is	given	before	each	
regular meeting.

A.1.4 •	 Minutes	of	board	meetings	and	
board commit tee meet ings 
shou ld  be  kep t  by  a  du l y 
appointed secre tary o f  the 
m e e t i n g  a n d  o p e n  f o r 
inspection by directors.

✓
•	 The	Company	Secretary	 is	 responsible	 for	 taking	

minutes of Board meetings and Board Committee 
meetings. Such minutes are open for inspection by 
Directors.

A.1.5 •	 Minutes	of	board	meetings	and	
board commit tee meet ings 
should record in suf f ic ient 
detail the matters considered 
and decisions reached.

•	 Draf t 	 and	 f inal 	 vers ions	 of	
minutes should be sent to all 
directors for comments within a 
reasonable time.

✓
•	 Minutes	 recorded	 the	matters	 considered	 and	

decisions reached in sufficient detail.

•	 Directors	are	given	an	opportunity	to	comment	on	
draf t  Board minutes and minutes o f  board 
committee meetings which are sent to Directors 
within a reasonable time frame (generally within 
14 days) of the relevant meeting.

•	 The	 signed	Board	minutes	and	minutes	of	board	
committee meetings are placed on record after the 
same have been reviewed and agreed amongst the 
Board members.

A.1.6 •	 Agreed	procedure	 for	directors	
t o  s e e k  i n d e p e n d e n t 
p ro fess iona l  adv ice a t  the 
company’s expense.

✓
•	 Directors	have	been	advised	 that	 the	Company	

Secretary can arrange independent professional 
advice at the expense of the Company if the 
Company Secretary considers that such seeking of 
advice is necessary and appropriate.

A.1.7 •	 If	a	substantial	shareholder	or	a	
d i r ec to r  ha s  a  con f l i c t  o f 
interest in a material matter, a 
physical  board meet ing be 
held.

•	 Independent	 non-executive	
directors who have no material 
interest in the transaction be 
present at such meeting.

✓
•	 There	 is	a	prescribed	 list	of	matters	 reserved	 for	

Board decision which includes matters involving a 
conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder or 
Director.	The	Company’s	Bye-	 laws	provide	 for	
voting and quorum requirements conforming with 
the Code Provisions.

•	 Such	matters	are	considered	and	approved	by	 the	
full Board except those Directors who have 
conflict of interests in such matters.

A.1.8 •	 Appropriate	 insurance	cover	 in	
respect of legal action against 
directors. ✓

•	 There	 is	 in	place	appropriate	 insurance	cover	 for	
Directors’ and Officers’ liability.
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Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance
Corporate Governance Practices 
adopted by the Company

A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive
Code Principle
There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive of the 
issuer to ensure a balance of power and authority.

A.2.1 •	 Roles	 of	 chairman	 and	 chief	
executive should be separated 
and performed by separate 
individuals.

•	 Division	 of	 responsibil i t ies	
between chairman and chief 
executive should be clearly 
es tab l i shed and se t  ou t  in 
writing.

✓
•	 The	 positions	 of	 the	Chairman,	 the	Managing	

Director and the Vice Chairman are held by Mr. 
Wong Chung Chong, Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth 
and Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin respectively.

•	 The	Chairman	 focuses	 on	managing	 the	Board	
issues and supervising the management team in 
adherence to the long term strategic development 
o f  t h e  G r o u p .  T h e  M a n a g i n g  D i r e c t o r  i s 
responsible for the Group’s business development 
and marketing functions. The Vice Chairman is 
responsible for the Group’s overall corporate 
functions and operations.

A.2.2 •	 The	 chairman	 should	 ensure	
that all directors are properly 
briefed on issues arising at 
board meetings.

✓
•	 The	Chairman,	with	 the	support	of	 the	Managing	

Director, the Vice Chairman and the Company 
Secretary, has a clear responsibility to provide the 
whole Board with all the information that is 
r e l e v a n t  t o  t h e  d i s c h a r ge  o f  t he  B o a r d ’ s 
responsibilities.

•	 Board	meetings	are	structured	 to	encourage	open	
discussion and frank debate.

A.2.3 •	 T h e 	 c h a i rm a n 	 s h o u l d 	 b e	
responsible for ensuring that 
di rectors receive adequate 
information, which is accurate, 
clear, complete and reliable in 
a timely manner.

✓
•	 Board	papers	 are	normally	 sent	 to	Directors	 at	

least three days before Board meetings.
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Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance
Corporate Governance Practices 
adopted by the Company

A.2.4 to 
 A.2.9

Impor tan t  ro les  fo r  cha i rman 
including:

•	 Drawing	 up	 and	 approving	
agenda for each board meeting.

•	 Ensuring	establishment	of	good	
corporate governance practices 
and procedures.

•	 Encouraging	 all	 directors	 to	
m a k e  a  f u l l  a n d  a c t i v e 
contribution to Board affairs, 
vo ice  the i r  conce rns  w i th 
different views and ensure the 
board decisions fairly reflected 
board consensus.

•	 Holding	meeting	 with	 non-	
e x e c u t i v e  d i r e c t o r s  a n d 
promoting a culture of openness 
and deba te  by  fac i l i t a t ing 
effective	 contribution	of	non-
executive directors.

•	 Ensuring	effective	communication	
b e t w e e n  t h e  B o a r d  a n d 
shareholders.

✓ •	 The	 Chairman,	 together	 with	 the	 Company	
Secretary, draws up agenda for each Board 
meeting after consultation with the relevant 
parties. The Chairman will also include in the 
agenda any matters proposed by other Directors.

•	 The	Chairman	plays	a	key	role	in	driving	corporate	
governance development and a leading role in the 
corporate governance function held by the Board.

•	 A	Board	 calendar	of	meeting	dates	 is	 normally	
planned prior to the beginning of a fiscal year. All 
Directors take active interest in Company affairs 
and participate in Board meetings with open 
discussions for contribution to the Company.

•	 The	Chairman	meets	with	Non-executive	Directors	
(including	 Independent	Non-executive	Directors)	
at least annually. They participate in Board 
meet ings wi th open discuss ions and br ing 
i ndependen t  j udgmen t s  and  cons t ruc t i ve 
comments to the Board.

•	 General	meetings	are	held	at	 least	once	a	year	 in	
which the Chairman, the Managing Director and 
the Vice Chairman will be present to answer any 
questions from shareholders. During the year 
under review, two general meetings were held at 
which, the Chairman, the Managing Director, the 
Vice Chairman and majority of Board members 
w e r e  p r e s e n t  t o  a n s w e r  q u e s t i o n s  f r o m 
shareholders. Shareholders can also access the 
Company’s latest information by visiting the 
Company’s website (www. topformbras.com). The 
Company has also set up procedures whereby 
shareholders can send enquiries and concerns to 
the Board and such procedures and other policies 
concerning communication with shareholders and 
shareholders’ rights of the Company are available 
on the Company’s website (www.topformbras.
com).
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Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance
Corporate Governance Practices 
adopted by the Company

A.3 Board Composition
Code Principle
The board should have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the 
requirements of the business of the issuer and shall include a balanced composition of executive and 
non-executive	directors	 (including	 independent	non-executive	directors)	 so	 that	 independent	elements	
can effectively be exercised.

A.3.1 •	 Independent	 non-executive	
directors should be identified in 
all corporate communications 
that  d isc lose the names of 
directors.

✓
•	 The	composition	of	 the	Board	 represents	a	well-

balanced mixture of  sk i l l s  and exper ience 
appropriate for the requirements of the business of 
the Company.

•	 Review	of	the	Board	composition	is	made	regularly	
by the nomination committee.

•	 The	 composition	 of	 the	 Board	 by	 category	 is	
disclosed in all corporate communications and the 
updated biographical details of the Directors are 
set out in annual reports under the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 
Management” and on the website of the Company 
(www.topformbras.com).

A.3.2 •	 Maintain	 on	 the	website	 an	
u p d a t e d  l i s t  o f  d i r e c t o r s 
i den t i f y ing  t he i r  r o l e  and 
function and whether they are 
independent	 non-executive	
directors.

✓
•	 Biographies	and	designations	of	Directors	are	set	

out in annual reports under the section headed 
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior 
Managemen t ”  and  a l so  pub l i shed  on  t he 
Company’s websi te and are updated when 
required. A list of names of Directors and their 
roles and functions is also published on the 
website of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing 
Limited (“HKEx”) and the Company’s website.

A.4 Appointments, Re-election and Removal
Code Principle
These should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the appointment of new directors and 
plans in place for orderly succession for appointments to the Board. All directors should be subject to 
re-election	at	regular	intervals.

A.4.1 •	 Non-executive	directors	should	
be appointed for a specific term 
and	subject	to	re-election.

Deviation 
explained

•	 Non-executive	Directors	are	not	appointed	 for	a	
specific term. They are, however, subject to 
retirement	by	rotation	and	re-election	at	least	once	
every  th ree  year s  in  accordance wi th  the 
Company’s	Bye-laws.
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Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance
Corporate Governance Practices 
adopted by the Company

A.4.2 •	 All	directors	appointed	 to	 fill	a	
casua l  vacancy shou ld  be 
subject to election by shareholders 
at the next general meeting 
after their appointment.

✓ •	 In	 accordance	with	 the	Company’s	 Bye-laws,	
newly appointed Directors to fill casual vacancies 
are	 required	 to	offer	 themselves	 for	 re-election	at	
t he  nex t  gene ra l  mee t ing  fo l lowing  the i r 
appointments.

•	 Every	director,	 including	 those	
appointed for a specific term, 
should be subject to retirement 
by rotation at least once every 
three years.

Deviation 
explained

•	 Under	 the	Company’s	Bye-laws,	at	 each	annual	
general	meeting	one-third	of	 the	Directors	 for	 the	
time being or, if the number is not three or a 
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not 
less	 than	one-third	 shall	 retire	 from	office.	 The	
Chairman shall not, whilst holding such office, be 
subject to retirement by rotation or be taken into 
account in determining the number of Directors to 
retire in each year.

In the opinion of the Board, it is important for the 
stability and growth of the Company that there is, 
and is seen to be, continuity of leadership in the 
role of Chairman and, in consequence, the Board 
is of the view that the Chairman should not be 
subject to retirement by rotation or hold office for 
a limited term at the present time.

A.4.3 •	 Election	 of	 an	 independent	
non-executive	director	 serving	
more than nine years. Include 
reason why considered to be 
independent and why should 
be	re-elected.

✓ •	 Each	of	 the	 Independent	Non-executive	Directors	
of the Company conf i rms annual ly his /her 
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

•	 Ms.	Leung	Churk	Yin,	Jeanny	and	Mr.	Lin	Sun	Mo,	
Willy,	 Independent	Non-executive	Directors	of	 the	
Company since 19 September 2008 and 3 May 2006 
respectively, will be subject to retirement by rotation 
and	 of fer 	 themselves	 for	 re-elect ion	 at 	 the	
forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM”). The 
Board has expressed its view on the independence of 
Ms. Leung and Mr. Lin in a circular in relation to, 
among	other	matters,	 the	 re-election	of	 retiring	
Directors at the AGM for shareholders’ consideration.
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Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance
Corporate Governance Practices 
adopted by the Company

A.5 Nomination Committee

A.5.1 to
 A.5.3

•	 The	Company	should	establish	
a nomination committee which 
is chaired by the Chairman of 
the Board or an independent 
non-executive	 director	 and	
c o m p r i s e s  a  m a j o r i t y  o f 
independent	 non-executive	
directors .  Wri t ten terms of 
r e f e r e n c e  s p e c i f y i n g  i t s 
authority and duties should be 
published on the HKEx’s and 
the Company’s website.

✓ •	 The 	 Company 	 e s t ab l i s h ed 	 a 	 Nomina t i on	
Committee in February 2012 which is currently 
comprising Mr. Wong Chung Chong, Mr. Wong 
Kai Chi, Kenneth, Mr. Fung Wai Yiu, Mr. Herman 
Van de Velde, Mr. Marvin Bienenfeld, Mr. Chow 
Yu Chun, Alexander, Ms. Leung Churk Yin, 
Jeanny, Mr. Leung Ying Wah, Lambert and Mr. Lin 
Sun Mo, Wil ly ,  represent ing a major i ty  o f 
Independent	Non-executive	Directors.

•	 Written	 terms	of	 reference	which	 follows	closely	
the requirements of the Code Provisions have been 
adopted by the Board and are available for review 
on the HKEx’s website and the Company’s website.

•	 During	 the	 year	under	 review,	one	nomination	
committee meeting was held on 25 May 2017 to 
assess	 the	 independence	of	 the	 independent	non-
executive directors and review the structure, size 
and composition of the Board.

•	 Details	of	their	attendance	records	at	the	meetings	
during the year ended 30 June 2017 are set out 
below:

Executive Directors Attendance
Wong Chung Chong 1/1
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth 1/1

Non-executive Directors
Fung Wai Yiu 1/1
Herman Van de Velde 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Marvin Bienenfeld 0/1
Chow Yu Chun, Alexander 
 (Chairman) 1/1
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 1/1
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 1/1
Lin Sun Mo, Willy 1/1
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A.5.4 •	 Nomination	committee	 should	
be provided with suff icient 
resources to perform its duties 
and should seek independent 
p ro fess iona l  adv ice a t  the 
i s s u e r ’ s  e x p e n s e  w h e r e 
necessary.

✓
•	 The	Committee	is	authorized	by	the	Board	to	seek	

outside legal or other independent professional 
advice where necessary. It may also secure the 
attendance of outsiders with relevant experience if 
it considers appropriate.

A.5.5 •	 A	proposal	 for	 election	of	 an	
individual	as	 independent	non-	
e x e c u t i v e  d i r e c t o r  a t  t h e 
general meeting, the issuer 
should include in a circular to 
shareholders and/or explanatory 
statement accompanying the 
notice of the relevant general 
meeting the reason why such 
individual to be considered as 
independent.

✓
•	 No	appointment	of	 independent	non-executive	

director during the year under review.

A.5.6 •	 The	 nominat ion	 commit tee	
should have a policy of board 
diversity. ✓

•	 A	Board	Diversity	Policy	has	been	adopted	by	the	
Nomination Committee in August 2013.

•	 The	main	objective	of	 the	policy	 is	 to	provide	a	
guidel ine to the Nominat ion Commit tee in 
selecting candidates in terms of their merits and 
business and professional backgrounds to the 
Board with reference to the Company’s existing 
and future business development needs.
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A.6 Responsibilities of Directors
Code Principle
Every director must always know his responsibilities as a director of an issuer and its conduct, business 
activities	and	development.	Non-executive	directors	have	the	same	duties	of	care	and	skill	and	fiduciary	
duties as executive directors.

A.6.1 •	 Every	newly	appointed	director	
s h o u l d  r e c e i v e  a 
c o m p r e h e n s i v e ,  f o r m a l 
induction to ensure that he has 
a proper understanding of the 
i s s u e r ’ s  o p e r a t i o n s  a n d 
business; his responsibilities 
u n d e r  t h e  l i s t i n g  r u l e s , 
a p p l i c a b l e  r e g u l a t o r y 
requirements, business and 
governance pol icies of the 
issuer.

✓
•	 The	Chairman	and	Company	Secretary	will	usually	

brief the newly appointed Director for the duties 
and responsibilities he/she may perform as a 
Director of the Company and other regulatory 
requirements he/she may observe.

•	 Directors	are	provided	at	quarterly	Board	meetings	
with comprehensive reports on the management’s 
strategic plans, updates on business, financial 
objectives, plans and actions.

•	 The	Company	Secretary	is	responsible	for	keeping	
all Directors updated on Listing Rules and other 
statutory requirements.

Memos or emails are issued from time to time to 
keep Directors up to date with changes in Listing 
Rules and other regulations relevant to Directors 
in the discharge of their duties.

A.6.2 •	 Funct ion	 o f 	 non-execut ive	
directors include:

—	 p a r t i c i p a t e 	 i n 	 b o a r d	
m e e t i n g s  a n d  b r i n g  a n 
independent judgment to 
the board.

—	 t a k e 	 t h e 	 l e a d 	 w h e r e	
potential conflicts of interest 
arise.

—	 serve	on	board	committees	
if invited.

—	 s c r u t i n i s e 	 t h e 	 i s s u e r ’ s	
performance.

✓
•	 Non-executive	Directors	participated	actively	 in	

the affairs of the Company by attending the Board 
meetings and give independent advice and 
judgement  on mat te r s  be ing  d i scussed .  I f 
considered necessary, they will seek guidance and 
direction from the Chairman, the Managing 
Director and the Vice Chairman on the future 
business direction and strategic plans so as to gain 
a comprehensive understanding of the business of 
the Company to exercise their independent 
judgment.

•	 Non-executive	Directors	 review	 the	 financial	
information and operational performance of the 
Group on a regular basis.

•	 The	Audit	Committee	of	 the	Company	 is	wholly	
composed	 o f 	 Independen t 	 Non-execu t i ve	
Directors. The Compensation Committee is wholly 
composed	of	Non-executive	Directors,	with	 the	
majori ty	 being	 Independent	 Non-executive	
Di rec to r s .  The  Nomina t ion  Commi t t ee  i s 
composed of all categories of Directors, with the 
majori ty	 being	 Independent	 Non-executive	
Directors.
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A.6.3 •	 Directors	 should	 ensure	 that	
they can give sufficient time 
and attention to the affairs of 
the issuer.

✓
•	 Except	 for	absence	of	Mr.	Lucas	A.M.	Laureys	 (a	

Non-executive	Director)	due	 to	personal	 reason	
for relevant meetings, there was satisfactory 
attendance for Board and Board Committee 
meetings during the year.

Please refer to A.1.1, A.5.1, B.1.2, C.3.3 and C.3.4 
for details.

A.6.4 •	 Directors	must	comply	with	the	
Model Code.

•	 Board	should	establish	written	
guidelines on no less exacting 
terms than the Model Code for 
relevant employees.

✓
•	 The	Company	has	adopted	the	Model	Code	as	set	

out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (“Model 
Code”) as its own code for Directors’ dealings in 
securities of the Company.

Having made specific enquiries, the Company 
confirmed that each of the Directors has complied 
with the required standards during the year.

•	 Employees	who	are	 likely	 to	be	 in	possession	of	
inside information of the Company are also subject 
to compliance with guidelines on no less exacting 
terms than the Model Code.

A.6.5 •	 Directors	 should	participate	 in	
c o n t i n u o u s  p r o f e s s i o n a l 
development and refresh their 
knowledge and ski l ls ,  with 
appropriate emphasis on the 
roles, functions and duties of a 
listed company director.

✓
•	 The	Company	Secretary	has	provided	all	Directors	

with relevant directors’ guides for their discharge 
of duties and updates on changes of relevant rules 
and regulations.

•	 During	 the	 year,	 the	Directors’	 knowledge	 and	
skills are continuously developed and refreshed by 
reading materials, webcast and guidelines on 
subjects relating to duties of directors and role and 
function of Board Committees as well as the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting 
guide.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

17Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2017

Code Ref. Code Provisions Compliance
Corporate Governance Practices 
adopted by the Company

Records of the Directors’ training during the year 
ended 30 June 2017 under review are as follows:

Executive Directors

Reading 
Materials 

and Guidelines
Wong Chung Chong 
 (Chairman) 3

Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth 
 (Managing Director) 3

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin 
 (Vice Chairman) 3

Non-executive Directors
Fung Wai Yiu 3

Lucas A.M. Laureys 3

Herman Van de Velde 3

Independent Non-executive Directors
Marvin Bienenfeld 3

Chow Yu Chun, Alexander 3

Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 3

Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 3

Lin Sun Mo, Willy 3

A.6.6 •	 Directors	should	disclose	at	 the	
time of appointment (and at 
subsequent times) all offices held 
in other public companies and 
other significant commitments.

✓
•	 On	 appointment,	Directors	 have	 disclosed	 all	

relevant information to the Board. They will 
disclose any change of such information to the 
Company in a timely manner and such information 
is updated in annual reports and the Company’s 
website.

A.6.7 •	 Directors	should	ensure	regular	
a t t e n d a n c e  a n d  a c t i v e 
participation at board, board 
committee and general meetings 
through which to demonstrate 
their skills, expertise and varied 
backgrounds and qualifications.

✓
•	 Except	 for	absence	of	Mr.	Lucas	A.M.	Laureys	 (a	

Non-executive	Director)	due	to	personal	reason	for	
relevant meetings, there was satisfactory attendance 
for Board meetings, Board Committee meetings and 
general meeting during the year. Please refer to 
A.1.1, A.5.1, B.1.2, C.3.3 and C.3.4 for details.

•	 During	Board	 and	Board	Committee	meetings,	
there were open discussions amongst the Board 
and Board Committee members and constructive 
advice was given to the Board. Directors and 
chairmen of respective Board Committees were 
available at general meeting to answer questions 
from shareholders.

A.6.8 •	 Non-executive	directors	should	
make a positive contribution to 
the development of the issuer’s 
strategy and policies through 
independent, constructive and 
informed comments.

✓
•	 Details	on	 the	 roles	and	 functioning	of	as	well	as	

the	work	performed	by	Non-executive	Directors	
(including	 Independent	Non-executive	Directors)	
are set out above.
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A.7 Supply of and Access to Information
Code Principle
Directors should be provided in a timely manner with appropriate information in the form and quality to 
enable them to make an informed decision and to perform their duties and responsibilities.

A.7.1 •	 Board	papers	should	be	sent	 to	
all directors at least three days 
before regular board or board 
committee meetings.

✓
•	 Board	papers	are	circulated	no	less	than	three	days	

before regula r  Board or  Board Commit tee 
meetings.

A.7.2 •	 Management	has	an	obligation	
to supply the board and its 
commit tees  wi th adequate 
information in a timely manner 
to enable it to make informed 
decis ions. The information 
supplied must be complete and 
reliable.

•	 Each	 d i rec tor 	 should	 have	
sepa ra te  and independen t 
access to senior management 
for making further enquiries 
where necessary.

✓
•	 The	Chief	 Financial	Officer	 (also	 acting	 as	 the	

Company Secretary) attended all regular Board 
and Board Committee meetings to advise on 
corporate governance, statutory compliance, 
accounting and financial matters.

•	 Senior	management	 is	 from	 time	 to	 time	brought	
into formal and informal contact with the Board at 
Board meetings and other events to provide 
briefings and advices on matters discussed at the 
meetings.

A.7.3 •	 Directors	 are	 entitled	 to	have	
access to board papers and 
related materials; queries raised 
b y  d i r e c t o r s  s h o u l d  b e 
responded promptly and fully.

✓
•	 Board	papers	and	related	materials	are	circulated	

to Directors three days prior to Board meetings 
and Board Committee meetings and are made 
available for inspection at any time by Board 
members and Committee members.

•	 The	Executive	Directors,	with	 the	 support	of	 the	
Chief  F inancial  Of f icer (a lso act ing as the 
Company Secretary), play a leading role in 
ensuring that queries are answered promptly and 
fully.
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B REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT AND BOARD EVALUATION
B.1 The Level and Make-up of Remuneration and Disclosure

Code Principle
A formal and transparent procedure should be established for setting policy on executive director 
remuneration and remuneration packages for all directors. No director should be involved in deciding his 
own remuneration.

B.1.1 •	 The	 remuneration	 committee	
should consult the chairman 
and/or chief executive about 
their remuneration proposals 
for other executive directors 
and have access to independent 
p r o f e s s i o n a l  a d v i c e  i f 
necessary.

✓
•	 The	 Company	 es tabl ished	 a	 Compensat ion	

Committee in 2001.

•	 There	 is	 close	 liaison	and	consultation	between	
the Committee and the Chairman on all human 
resource issues.

•	 Committee	members	 are	 aware	 that	 access	 to	
professional advice is available if considered 
necessary.

B.1.2 •	 Te rms 	 o f 	 r e f e rence 	 o f 	 t he	
remuneration committee to 
include:

—	 make	 recommendations	 to	
the board on policy and 
structure for remuneration 
of all directors and senior 
management.

—	 r e v i e w 	 a n d 	 a p p r o v e	
management’s remuneration 
proposals with reference to 
the Board’s corporate goals 
and objectives.

✓
•	 The	 terms	 of	 reference	 of	 the	 Compensation	

Committee follow closely the requirements of the 
Code Provisions that have been adopted by the 
Board.

•	 T h e 	 C omp e n s a t i o n 	 C omm i t t e e 	 h a s 	 t h e	
responsibility delegated by the Board to review 
and assess the remuneration packages of individual 
executive directors and senior management and 
make recommendations to the Board.

•	 During	the	year	ended	30	June	2017,	members	of	
the Committee had held one meeting at which the 
remuneration	 of	Non-executive	Directors	was	
reviewed and recommendations were made to the 
Board for approval.
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—	 either	 to	 determine,	with	
delegated responsibility, 
s p e c i f i c  r e m u n e r a t i o n 
packages  o f  i nd iv idua l 
execut ive di rectors  and 
senior management; or to 
make recommendations to 
the Board for this purpose.

—	 make	 recommendations	 to	
the Board on remuneration 
of	non-executive	directors.

—	 consider	 salaries	 paid	 by	
comparable companies , 
t i m e  c o m m i t m e n t  a n d 
r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s  a n d 
employment  condi t ions 
elsewhere in the group.

—	 review	 and	 approve	 the	
compensation payable to 
execut ive di rectors  and 
senior management for loss 
or termination of office or 
appointment or relating to 
dismissa l  or  removal  o f 
directors for misconduct.

—	 ensure	 that	 no	director	 or	
any o f  h i s  associa tes  i s 
involved in deciding his 
own remuneration.

•	 The	Committee	comprises	 the	 following	members	
and details of their attendance records at the 
meeting held during the year ended 30 June 2017 
are set out below:

Independent Non-executive Directors Attendance
Marvin Bienenfeld (Chairman)(note) 0/1
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 1/1
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 1/1

Non-executive Director
Herman Van de Velde 1/1

Note: Mr. Marvin Bienenfeld has designated Mr. Leung Ying 
Wah, Lambert to chair the meeting.

•	 The	Committee	 reviews	compensation	policies	of	
the Group on a regular basis.

•	 The	compensation	policy	of	the	Group	is	designed	
t o  r e f l e c t  p e r f o r m a n c e ,  c o m p l e x i t y  a n d 
responsibility with a view to attracting, motivating 
and retaining high performing individuals.

•	 The	 Group’s	 compensation	 policy	 for	 Non-	
executive Directors is designed to ensure that they 
are sufficiently but not excessively compensated 
for their efforts and time dedicated to the Group.

•	 No	individual	Director	is	 involved	in	deciding	his	
own remuneration.

B.1.3 •	 The	 remuneration	 committee	
should make available its terms 
of reference and the authority 
delegated to it by the board.

✓
•	 The	 terms	 of	 reference	 of	 the	 Compensation	

Committee are available for review on the HKEx’s 
website and the Company’s website.

B.1.4 •	 The	 remuneration	 committee	
s h o u l d  b e  p r o v i d e d  w i t h 
sufficient resources to perform 
its duties.

✓
•	 Independent	professional	advice	will	be	brought	to	

supplement internal resources where appropriate.
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B.1.5 •	 Detai l s 	 of 	 remunerat ion	 to	
senior management should be 
disclosed by band in annual 
reports.

✓
•	 Details	of	remuneration	paid	to	members	of	senior	

management for the year ended 30 June 2017 are 
as follows:

HK$
Salaries and other benefits 6,618,709
Retirement benefit scheme 
 contributions 72,000

Number of 
individuals

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1

Recommended Best Practices

B.1.7 •	 A	 signi f icant	 proport ion	 of	
e x e c u t i v e  d i r e c t o r s ’ 
r emune ra t i on  shou ld  l i nk 
r ewa rd s  t o  co rpo ra t e  and 
individual performance.

✓
•	 Details	of	remuneration	of	Executive	Directors	are	

disclosed on an individual basis in the annual 
r e p o r t .  A  s i g n i f i c a n t  p r o p o r t i o n  o f  t h e 
compensation of Executive Directors and senior 
management is based on individual performance 
and the financial performance of the Group.

C ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
C.1 Financial Reporting

Code Principle
The Board should present a balanced, clear and comprehensible assessment of the company’s 
performance, position and prospects.

C.1.1 •	 M a n a g em e n t 	 t o 	 p r o v i d e	
su f f ic ien t  explanat ion and 
information to the board to 
enable it to make an informed 
assessment of financial and 
other information put forward 
to the board for approval.

✓
•	 Directors	 are	 provided	with	 a	 review	 of	 the	

Group’s major business activities and detailed 
financial information on a quarterly basis.

C.1.2 •	 M a n a g em e n t 	 t o 	 p r o v i d e	
monthly updates to the Board 
in su f f ic ient  deta i l s  for  i t s 
a s ses sment  o f  the  i s sue r ’ s 
per formance,  pos i t ion and 
prospect.

✓
•	 Management	 provides	 monthly	 accounts	 or	

updates to Board members, whenever necessary, 
faci l i tat ing a balanced and understandable 
assessment and appraisal of the Company’s 
performance, position and prospect.
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C.1.3 •	 T h e 	 d i r e c t o r s 	 s h o u l d	

acknowledge in the Corporate 

G o v e r n a n c e  R e p o r t  t h e i r 

responsibility for preparing the 

accounts.

•	 A	 Statement	 by	 the	 auditors	

r e g a r d i n g  t h e i r  r e p o r t i n g 

responsibilities in the auditors’ 

r e p o r t  o n  t h e  f i n a n c i a l 

statements.

•	 Unless	 it	 is	 inappropriate	 to	

assume that the company will 

con t i nue  i n  bu s ine s s ,  t he 

directors should prepare the 

accounts on a going concern 

b a s i s ,  w i t h  s u p p o r t i n g 

assumptions or qualifications as 

necessary.

✓ •	 The	 Directors	 annual ly	 acknowledge	 thei r	

responsibility for preparing the financial statements 

of the Group.

•	 The	Companies	Ordinance	requires	 the	Directors	

to prepare financial statements for each financial 

year which give a true and fair view of the state of 

affairs of the Company and of the Group as at the 

end of the financial year and of their respective 

profit or loss for the year then ended. In preparing 

the financial statements, the Directors are required 

to:

—	 select	 suitable	accounting	policies	and	apply	

them on a consistent basis, making judgments 

and est imates that are prudent, fair and 

reasonable;

—	 state	 the	 reasons	 for	any	significant	departure	

from accounting standards; and

—	 prepare	 the	 financial	 statements	on	 a	 going	

concern basis, unless it is not appropriate to 

assume that the Company and the Group will 

continue in business for the foreseeable future.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper 

accounting records, for safeguarding the assets of 

the Company and the Group and for taking 

reasonable steps for the prevention of fraud and 

other irregularities.

•	 The	Auditor’s	 Report	 states	 auditors’	 reporting	

responsibilities.

•	 Directors	 are	 not	 aware	 of	 any	matters	 and	

uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon 

the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern.
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C.1.4 •	 Director	 should	 include	 in	 a	
separate statement containing a 
discussion and analysis of the 
group’s performance in the 
annual report, an explanation 
of the basis on which the issuer 
generates or preserves value 
over the longer term (business 
model) and the strategy for 
delivering such objectives.

✓
•	 This	 information	 is	 stated	 in	 the	 “Chairman’s	

Statement” and “Management Discussion and 
Analysis” sections in annual reports.

C.1.5 •	 The 	 boa rd 	 shou ld 	 p re sen t	 
a  b a l a n c e d ,  c l e a r  a n d 
understandable assessment in 
annual / inter im reports and 
other f inancial  disc losures 
required under the Listing Rules 
and other statutory requirements.

✓
•	 The	Board	aims	 to	present	a	clear,	balanced	and	

unders tandable assessment o f  the Group’s 
per fo rmance and f inanc ia l  pos i t ion in  a l l 
shareholder communications.

•	 The	Board	is	aware	of	 the	requirements	under	the	
Listing Rules about timely disclosure of inside 
information regarding the Company and will 
arrange to issue and publish such announcements 
as and when the occasions arise. The Company 
Secretary will consult and seek legal advice on the 
materiality and sensitivity of certain material and 
connected transactions and advise the Board 
accordingly.
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C.2 Risk Management and Internal Controls
Code Principle
The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to 
take in achieving the issuer’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the issuer establishes and maintains 
appropriate and effective risk management and internal controls systems. The Board should oversee 
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal control 
systems, and management should provide a confirmation to the board on the effectiveness of these 
systems.

C.2.1 •	 The	board	 should	oversee	 the	
issuer’s risk management and 
internal control systems on an 
ongoing basis, ensure that a 
review of the effectiveness of 
t h e  r i s k  m a n a g e m e n t  a n d 
internal control systems of the 
issuer and its subsidiaries has 
b e e n  c o n d u c t e d  a t  l e a s t 
annually and report that they 
have done so in their Corporate 
Governance Report.

•	 The	 review	 should	 cover	 all	
material controls, including 
f inanc ia l ,  opera t iona l  and 
compliance controls.

✓
•	 The	Board,	with	 the	 support	 of	 Internal	Audit	

Depar tment ,  has overa l l  respons ib i l i ty  for 
establishing and maintaining appropriate risk 
management and internal control systems of the 
Group and reviewing their effectiveness.

•	 The	 Internal	Audit	Department	conducts	 reviews	
on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s 
risk management and internal control systems and 
reports their findings to the Audit Committee. The 
r ev i ew cove r s  f i nanc ia l ,  ope ra t iona l  and 
compliance control in accordance with an annual 
audit plan reviewed and endorsed by the Audit 
Committee at the beginning of each financial year. 
T h e  I n t e r n a l  A u d i t  D e p a r t m e n t  p r o v i d e s 
independent assurance to the Audit Committee 
and the Board on the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the risk management and internal control 
systems for the Group during the year under 
review.

•	 The	Board	has	 reviewed	and	 is	 satisfied	as	 to	 the	
e f f e c t i v e n e s s  a n d  a d e q u a c y  o f  t h e  r i s k 
management and internal control systems of the 
Group during the year under review.
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C.2.2 •	 The	 annua l 	 rev iew	 should	
e n s u r e  t h e  a d e q u a c y  o f 
resources, qualifications and 
experience of staff, training 
programmes and budget of the 
issuer’s accounting, internal 
audit and financial reporting 
functions.

✓
•	 There	have	been	sufficient	 resources	put	 in	place	

within the Group to perform the accounting, 
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The finance team, led by the Chief Financial 
Officer, with the support of a group of accounting 
professionals, is responsible for the oversight of 
the Group’s f inance and control functions. 
Adequate training is provided to the finance team 
and	relevant	staffs.	In	addition	to	the	“On-the-job”	
and internal training, senior staff will regularly 
attend seminars with topics of relevance to them 
in discharging thei r  dut ies ,  updat ing thei r 
professional knowledge as well as coaching their 
subordinates.

•	 The	 Board 	 has 	 rev iewed	 the 	 adequacy 	 o f	
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of 
the Group’s accounting, internal audit and 
financial reporting functions, and their training 
programmes and budget during the year under 
review and considered that the Group has 
adequate of staff resources with qualifications and 
experience necessary for the effective performance 
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and 
financial reporting functions.
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Recommended Best Practices

C.2.3 •	 The	 board’s	 annual	 review	
should, in particular consider:

—	 the	 changes	 since	 the	 last	
annual review in the nature 
and extent of significant 
risks, and the issuer’s ability 
to respond to changes in its 
business and the external 
environment.

—	 the	 scope	 and	 quality	 of	
managemen t ’ s  ongo ing 
monitoring of risks and of 
internal control systems, 
and where applicable, the 
work of its internal audit 
f u n c t i o n  a n d  o t h e r 
assurance providers.

—	 the	extent	and	 frequency	of	
c o m m u n i c a t i o n  o f 
monitoring results to the 
board which enables it to 
assess control of the issuer 
and the effectiveness of risk 
management.

—	 significant	 control	 failings	
or weaknesses that have 
been identified during the 
period.

—	 the	 e f fec t iveness	 o f 	 the	
i s s u e r ’ s  p r o c e s s e s  f o r 
f inanc ia l  repor t ing  and 
Listing Rule compliance.

✓
•	 The	annual	 review	by	 the	Board	considered	all	

these matters.

•	 There	were	 no	 significant	 control	 failings	 or	
weakness identified.
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C.2.4 •	 N a r r a t i v e 	 s t a t e m e n t 	 o n	
c o m p l i a n c e  w i t h  c o d e 
provisions on risk management 
and internal control including:

—	 process	 used	 to	 identify,	
e v a l u a t e  a n d  m a n a g e 
significant risks.

—	 the	main	features	of	the	risk	
management and internal 
control systems.

—	 acknowledgement	 by	 the	
board that it is responsible 
for the risk management 
and internal control systems 
a n d  r e v i e w i n g  t h e i r 
effectiveness. It should also 
explain that such systems 
are designed to manage 
rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives, and can 
only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance 
a g a i n s t  m a t e r i a l 
misstatement or loss.

—	 process	used	 to	 review	 the	
ef fect iveness of the r isk 
management and internal 
con t ro l  s y s t ems  and  to 
resolve material internal 
control defects.

—	 procedures	 and	 internal	
controls for the handling 
and dissemination of inside 
information.

✓
•	 The	 Board	 has	 overall	 responsibility	 for	 risk	

management and internal control systems of the 
Group and reviewing their effectiveness.

•	 The	Group	has	 in	place	 the	risk	management	and	
internal control systems which are designed in 
light of the nature of business as well as the 
organization structure.

•	 The	Group	has	 adopted	 a	 holistic	 approach	 to	
identify, assess, mitigate, report and monitor the 
risks. The management assessed the likelihood of 
risk occurrence, provide mitigation plans and 
monitor the risk management progress. Findings 
and recommendations are reported regularly to the 
Audit Committee and the Board.

•	 The	Group’s	system	of	 internal	control	 includes	a	
defined management structure with limits of 
a u t h o r i t y  a n d  i s  d e s i g n e d  t o  f u r t h e r  t h e 
achievement of business objectives, safeguard 
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, 
ensure the maintenance of proper accounting 
records for the provision of reliable financial 
information for internal use or publication, and 
ensure compliance with relevant legislation and 
regulations.

•	 The	risk	management	and	internal	control	systems	
are designed to provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement 
or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks 
of failure in operational systems and achievement 
of the Group’s objectives.

•	 The	management	adopts	a	hands-on	approach	 to	
the operations of the business and delegation of 
authority is limited.

•	 Detailed	operational	 and	 financial	 budgets	 are	
prepared and reviewed by the responsible 
Directors prior to being adopted.
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•	 Robust	controls	are	 in	place	 for	 the	 recording	of	
complete, accurate and timely accounting and 
management information. Comprehensive monthly 
management accounts are prepared, reviewed 
with, and dis tr ibuted to appropriate senior 
managers. In addition, monthly operational review 
meetings of various operating plants are held. The 
Chairman, the Managing Director and the Vice 
Chairman play leading roles in these meetings.

•	 There	are	internal	procedures	and	controls	for	the	
handling and dissemination of inside information. 
The Group has adopted and implemented a 
Continuous Disclosure Policy since 22 February 
2013. The Group discloses inside information to 
the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless 
the information falls within any of the safe harbors 
as provided in the SFO. Before the information is 
fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures 
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the 
Group believes that the necessary degree of 
confidentiality cannot be maintained or that 
confidentiality may have been breached, the 
Group would immediately disclose the information 
to the public. The Group is committed to ensure 
that information contained in announcement or 
circulars are not false or misleading as to a 
material fact, or false or misleading through the 
omission of a material fact in view of presenting 
information in a clear and balanced way, which 
requires equal disclosure of both positive and 
negative facts.

C.2.5 The issuer should have an internal 
audit function. Issuers without an 
internal audit function should 
review the need for one on an 
annual basis and should disclose 
the reasons for the absence of such 
a  f u n c t i o n  i n  t h e  C o r p o r a t e 
Governance Report.

✓
•	 The	Group	has	 an	 internal	 audit	 function.	 The	

Head of Internal Audit Department has direct 
access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
The work plan of the Internal Audit Department 
focuses on those areas of the Group’s activities 
with the greatest perceived risk and the plan is 
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. 
The  re su l t s  o f  in te rna l  aud i t  r ev iews  and 
corresponding remedial actions taken are reported 
to the Executive Directors and Audit Committee 
periodically.
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C.3 Audit Committee
Code Principle
The board should establish formal and transparent arrangements for considering how it applies the 
financial reporting and internal controls principles and for maintaining an appropriate relationship with 
the company’s auditors. The audit committee should have clear terms of reference.

C.3.1 •	 Minutes	 should	 be	 kept	 by	 a	
duly appointed secretary and 
sent to all committee members 
within a reasonable time.

✓
•	 Minutes	are	prepared	by	 the	Company	Secretary	

and sent to members of the Audit Committee 
within 14 days of each meeting.

C.3.2 •	 A	 former	 partner	 of	 existing	
auditing firm shall not act as a 
member of the committee for 1 
year after he ceases to be a 
pa r tne r  o f  o r  t o  have  any 
financial interest in the firm, 
whichever is the later.

✓
•	 No	member	of	the	Audit	Committee	is	a	partner	of	

or has financial interest in the existing auditing 
firm of the Company.

C.3.3 and
 C.3.4

•	 The	 terms	of	 reference	of	 the	
a u d i t  c o m m i t t e e  s h o u l d 
include:

—	 relationship	with	the	issuer’s	
external auditors.

—	 r e v i ew 	 o f 	 t h e 	 i s s u e r ’ s	
financial information.

—	 oversight	 of	 the	 issuer’s	
financial reporting system, 
r i s k  m a n a g e m e n t  a n d 
internal control systems.

•	 The	 audit	 committee	 should	
make available i ts terms of 
reference, explaining its role 
and the authority delegated to 
it by the board.

✓
•	 The	Company	established	an	audit	committee	 in	

1998	and	all	of	its	members	are	Independent	Non-
executive Directors.

•	 The	 terms	of	 reference	of	 the	Audit	Committee	
follow closely the requirements of the Code 
Provisions that have been adopted by the Board 
and are available for review on the HKEx’s website 
and the Company’s website.

•	 Under	 its	 terms	 of	 reference,	 the	 Committee	
reviews the Group’s financial information and 
oversees the financial reporting system, risk 
management and internal control systems; it also 
approves the scope of work of the Internal Audit 
Department and oversees the relationship with the 
external auditors.

•	 The	Audit	Committee	 currently	 consists	 of	 the	
following members and two meetings have been 
held during the year ended 30 June 2017. Details 
of committee members’ attendance records are set 
out below:

Independent Non-executive Directors Attendance
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 
 (Chairman) 2/2
Marvin Bienenfeld 1/2
Chow Yu Chun, Alexander 2/2
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 2/2
Lin Sun Mo, Willy 2/2
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•	 The	principal	work	performed	by	 the	committee	
during the year ended 30 June 2017 included:

—	 review	of	 the	Company’s	 financial	 statements	
for the year ended 30 June 2017 and for the six 
mon ths  ended 31 December  2016 and 
recommending such financial statements to the 
Board for their approval and adoption;

—	 discussions	with	 the	 external	 auditors	 and	
reporting to the Board any significant matters 
arising from the interim review and annual 
audit;

—	 review	 of	 the	 audit	 reports	 submitted	 by	
Internal Audit Department regarding the 
s y s t e m s  o f  i n t e r n a l  c o n t r o l  a n d  r i s k 
management;

—	 review	and	approval	of	the	audit	planning;	and

—	 r e v i ew 	 o f 	 t h e 	 Con t i n u i n g 	 Conne c t e d	
Transactions.

The Committee was satisfied as to the overall 
effectiveness of the internal controls and risk 
management process during the year under 
review.

C.3.5 •	 If	Audit	Committee	 disagrees	
with the Board’s view on the 
s e l e c t i o n ,  a p p o i n t m e n t , 
res ignat ion or dismissal  of 
external auditors, a statement 
f r om the  aud i t  commi t t ee 
explaining its recommendation 
a n d  r e a s o n  f o r  s u c h 
d i s a g r e e m e n t  s h o u l d  b e 
inc luded in  the Corpora te 
Governance Report.

✓
•	 The	Audit	Committee	recommended	to	 the	Board,	

subject	to	shareholders’	approval	at	the	AGM	to	re-	
appoint KPMG as the external auditors of the 
Company until the conclusion of next annual 
general meeting.

For the year ended 30 June 2017, the external 
auditors received HK$1,821,935 for audit services 
and	HK$183,900	for	non-audit	services.	The	non-
audit services represented tax compliance services 
and salary tax advisory services.
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C.3.6 •	 The	audit	committee	should	be	
p r o v i d e d  w i t h  s u f f i c i e n t 
resources to perform its duties. ✓

•	 Independent	professional	advice	will	be	brought	to	
supplement internal resources where appropriate.

C.3.7 •	 Terms	 o f 	 re fe rence	 should	
include:

—	 review	 of 	 a r rangements	
e m p l o y e e s  c a n  u s e ,  i n 
c o n f i d e n c e ,  t o  r a i s e 
concerns about possible 
improprieties in financial 
reporting, internal controls 
or other matters.

—	 t o 	 a c t 	 a s 	 t h e 	 k e y	
representa t ive body for 
ove r see ing  the  i s sue r ’ s 
relation with the external 
auditor.

✓
•	 The	 terms	of	 reference	updated	with	 these	 items	

have been adopted by the Board.

•	 The	Audit	Committee	oversees	 the	 relationship	
with the external auditors.
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D DELEGATION BY THE BOARD
D.1 Management Functions

Code Principle
An issuer should have a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved for board approval. The board 
should give clear directions to management on the matters that must be approved by it before decisions 
are made on behalf of the issuer.

D.1.1 and
 D.1.2

•	 Board	must	give	clear	directions	
as to the powers of management, 
including where management 
shou ld  ob ta in  p r io r  board 
a p p r o v a l  b e f o r e  m a k i n g 
decisions or entering into any 
commitments on behalf of the 
issuer.

•	 F o rm a l i z e 	 t h e 	 f u n c t i o n s	
reserved to the board and those 
delegated to management; and 
review those arrangements 
periodically to ensure that they 
remain appropriate to the needs 
of the company.

✓ •	 T h e 	 d a i l y 	 m a n a g em e n t , 	 o p e r a t i o n 	 a n d	
administration functions of the Company are 
delegated to the management. The reporting 
system is designed to ensure that significant issues 
are reported to the Board on a regular basis.

•	 There	is	a	defined	schedule	of	matters	reserved	for	
full Board approval, including:

—	 long-term	objectives	and	strategies;

—	 audited	 financial	 statements	 and	associated	
materials; review and approve interim and final 
r e s u l t s  a n n o u n c e m e n t s  a n d  q u a r t e r l y 
operat ional updates ;  convening general 
meetings;

—	 recommendations	as	to	dividend;

—	 appointment,	 removal	 or	 re-designation	 of	
Directors;

—	 remuneration	of	Non-executive	Directors	and	
c h a n g e s  i n  t e r m s  a n d  c o n d i t i o n s  o f 
employment of Executive Directors;

—	 material	connected	transactions;

—	 material	acquisitions,	disposals	or	joint-venture	
arrangements;

—	 material	raising	of	external	finance;

—	 appointment	and	removal	of	external	auditors;

—	 matters	 involving	 a	 conflict	 of	 interest	 for	 a	
substantial shareholder or Director; and

—	 Create,	 issue,	purchase,	 redeem	or	otherwise	
reorganize the Company’s share capital.
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D.1.3 •	 An	 issuer	 should	disclose	 the	
respect ive responsibi l i t ies , 
a c c o u n t a b i l i t i e s  a n d 
contributions of the board and 
management.

✓
•	 As	set	out	in	D.1.1	and	D.1.2.

D.1.4 •	 Issuers	 should	 have	 formal	
l e t t e r s  o f  appo in tment  fo r 
Directors setting out the key 
terms and conditions of their 
appointment.

✓
•	 A	 formal	 appointment	 letter	 setting	out	 the	key	

terms and conditions relative to their appointment 
wil l  be prepared for each newly appointed 
Director.

D.2 Board Committees
Code Principle
Board committees should be formed with specific written terms of reference that deal clearly with the 
committees’ authority and duties.

D.2.1 •	 Clear	 terms	 of	 reference	 to	
enable proper discharge of 
committees functions. ✓

•	 Three	 Board	 committees,	 Audit	 Committee,	
Compensat ion Commit tee and Nominat ion 
Committee have been established with clear and 
specific terms of reference.

Please refer to A.5.1 to A.5.3, B.1.2, C.3.3 and 
C.3.4 for details.

D.2.2 •	 The	 terms	of	 reference	 should	
require committees to report 
t h e i r  d e c i s i o n s  a n d 
recommendations to the board.

✓
•	 Each	Board	Committee	 reports	 to	 the	Board	after	

the relevant meeting.
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D.3 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

D.3.1 •	 The	 terms	of	 reference	 should	
include:

—	 developing	 and	 reviewing	
policies and practices on 
corporate governance and 
make recommendations to 
the board.

—	 reviewing	 and	monitoring	
t raining and continuous 
professional development of 
d i r e c t o r s  a n d  s e n i o r 
management.

—	 reviewing	 and	monitoring	
policies and practices on 
l e g a l  a n d  r e g u l a t o r y 
compliance issues.

—	 developing,	 reviewing	and	
moni to r ing the code o f 
c o n d u c t  a p p l i c a b l e  t o 
employees and directors.

—	 rev i ew ing 	 c 	 o 	 d 	 e 	 and	
disclosure of the Company 
i n  t h e  C o r p o r a t e 
Governance Report.

✓
•	 The	 terms	 of	 reference	 adopted	 by	 the	 Board	

follow closely the Code Provision D.3.1.

D.3.2 •	 T h e 	 b o a r d 	 s h o u l d 	 b e	
responsible for per forming 
corporate governance duties set 
out in D.3.1 or it may delegate 
t h e  r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s  t o  a 
committee.

✓
•	 Corporate	governance	 functions	of	 the	Company	

are held by the Board with Chairman of the Board 
playing a leading role. The Board places emphasis 
on good corporate governance practices and has 
reviewed the Group’s corporate governance 
practices and code of conduct and compliance 
matters during the year.
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E COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
E.1 Effective Communication

Code Principle
The	Board	 should	be	 responsible	 for	maintaining	 an	on-going	dialogue	with	 shareholders	 and	 in	
particular, use annual general meetings or other general meetings to communicate with shareholders and 
encourage their participation.

E.1.1 •	 A 	 s e p a r a t e 	 r e s o l u t i o n 	 b e	
proposed by the chairman for 
each substantial ly separate 
issue.

✓
•	 Separate	 resolutions	are	proposed	at	 the	general	

meeting on each substantially separate issue, 
including the election of individual Directors.

E.1.2 •	 The	 chairman	 of	 the	 board	
s h o u l d  a t t e n d  t h e  a n n u a l 
general meeting and invite the 
c h a i r m a n  o f  t h e  a u d i t , 
r emunera t ion ,  nomina t ion 
committees (as appropriate) or 
in the absence of the chairman 
of such committees, another 
members of the committees to 
a t tend and be avai lable to 
answer questions at the annual 
general meeting.

•	 T h e 	 c h a i r m a n 	 o f 	 t h e	
independent board committee 
(if any) should also be available 
to answer quest ions at any 
general meeting to approve a 
connected transaction or any 
other transaction that requires 
independent  shareholders ’ 
a p p r o v a l .  A n  i s s u e r ’ s 
management should ensure that 
the external auditor attends the 
annual  genera l  meet ing to 
answer questions.

✓
•	 The	Chairman	 of	 the	 Board	 chaired	 the	 2016	

annual general meeting held during the year and 
w a s  a v a i l a b l e  t o  a n s w e r  q u e s t i o n s  f r o m 
shareholders.

•	 The	Chairman	or	members	of	 respective	Board	
Committees also attended the 2016 annual general 
meeting and were available to answer questions 
from shareholders.

•	 Details	 of	Directors’	 attendance	 records	 at	 the	
2016 annual general meeting are as follows:

Executive Directors Attendance
Wong Chung Chong (Chairman) 3

Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
 (Managing Director) 3

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin
 (Vice Chairman) 3

Non-executive Directors
Fung Wai Yiu ✗

Lucas A.M. Laureys ✗

Herman Van de Velde 3

Independent Non-executive Directors
Marvin Bienenfeld 3

Chow Yu Chun, Alexander 3

Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 3

Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 3

Lin Sun Mo, Willy 3

•	 The	external	auditor	attended	 the	annual	general	
meeting to answer questions from shareholders.
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•	 During	the	year,	a	special	general	meeting	(“SGM”)	
was held to approve the continuing connected 
transactions.

The Chairman of the board and majority of 
members of Independent Board Commit tee 
attended the SGM and were available to answer 
questions from shareholders.

•	 Details	 of	Directors’	 attendance	 records	 at	 the	
SGM are as follows:

Executive Directors Attendance
Wong Chung Chong 
 (Chairman) 3

Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth 
 (Managing Director) 3

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin 
 (Vice Chairman) 3

Non-executive Directors
Fung Wai Yiu 3

Lucas A.M. Laureys ✗

Herman Van de Velde ✗

Independent Non-executive Directors
Marvin Bienenfeld ✗

Chow Yu Chun, Alexander 3

Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 3

Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 3

Lin Sun Mo, Willy 3
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E.1.3 •	 At	least	20	clear	business	days’	
not ice should be given for 
annual general meetings and at 
least 10 clear business days’ 
notice should be given for all 
other general meetings.

✓
•	 The	Company	complies	with	this	requirement.

E.1.4 •	 Boa r d 	 s hou l d 	 e s t a b l i s h 	 a	
shareholders’ communication 
policy and review it regularly. ✓

•	 The	Company	 has	 established	 a	 Shareholders’	
Communication Policy which can be viewed at 
the Company’s website.

•	 Information	of	shareholders’	rights	including	(i)	the	
way in which shareholders can convene a special 
general meeting; (ii) procedures with contact 
details that shareholders can send enquiries to the 
Board; ( i i i )  procedures for put t ing forward 
proposals at general meetings; and (iv) procedures 
shareholders can use to propose a person for 
e lec t ion as  a  d i rec to r ,  i s  ava i lab le  a t  the 
Company’s website.

E.2 Voting by Poll
Code Principle
The issuer should ensure that shareholders are familiar with the detailed procedures for conducting a poll.

E.2.1 The chairman of a meeting should 
ensure that  an explanat ion i s 
provided of the detailed procedures 
for conducting a poll and answer 
any questions from shareholders 
on voting by poll.

✓
•	 The	Chairman	explains	the	detailed	procedures	for	

conducting a poll at the outset of the annual 
general meeting and any general meetings and 
answers questions from shareholders.
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F COMPANY SECRETARY
Code Principle
Company Secretary plays an important role in supporting the board by ensuring good information flow 
within the board and that board policy and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is 
responsible for advising the board through the chairman and/or the chief executive on governance matters 
and facilitates induction of directors.

F.1.1 to
 F.1.4

•	 The	company	secretary	should	
b e  a n  e m p l o y e e  o f  t h e 
company	and	have	day-	 to-day	
knowledge of the company’s 
affairs.

•	 The	board	 should	approve	 the	
se lec t ion ,  appo in tmen t  o r 
d i sm i s sa l  o f  t he  company 
secretary.

•	 The	company	secretary	should	
report to the board chairman 
and/or the chief executive.

•	 All	directors	should	have	access	
to the advice and services of 
t he  company  s ec re t a r y  t o 
ensure that board procedures, 
and all applicable law, rules 
and regulations, are followed.

✓
•	 The	Company	 Secretary	 is	 an	 employee	of	 the	

Company	and	has	day-to-day	knowledge	of	 the	
Company who is assisting and reporting to the 
Chairman on the Company’s issues.

•	 The	 selection,	 appointment	 or	 dismissal	 of	 the	
Company Secretary is approved by the Board.

•	 The	Company	Secretary	is	responsible	for	ensuring	
that Board procedures are complied with and 
advises the Board on corporate governance and 
compliance matters.

•	 Directors	 have	 direct	 access	 to	 the	Company	
Secretary.

•	 The	Company	Secretary	has	taken	no	less	than	15	
hours of relevant professional training during the 
year under review.
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Business Integrity

Maintaining the highest professional and ethical standards is central to the Group’s core operating philosophy. The 
Group has formally adopted a Code of Conduct (the “Code”) addressing guiding principles governing conduct of 
Directors, management and employees. The Code is intended to establish standards of conduct encompassing the areas 
in which the business operates.

In summary, executives and employees of the Group are expected to:

•	 Conduct	business	of	the	Group	in	full	compliance	with	both	the	letter	and	spirit	of	the	Law	and	of	the	Code.
•	 Maintain	 the	highest	possible	standards	 in	 the	way	we	operate	and	 the	way	we	 treat	our	employees	 in	order	 to	

satisfy the expectations of both the business and social communities.
•	 Use	confidential	information	properly.
•	 Recognize	and	avoid	conflicts	of	interest.
•	 Protect	the	ownership	of	property	of	the	Group,	including	information,	products,	rights	and	services.
•	 Conduct	outside	activities	in	a	way	which	does	not	compromise	the	individual	or	the	Group.

There is a reporting system for any code violations. The Board reviews the Code and monitors its effective 
implementation periodically. There are also systems in place for risk assessment, risk identification and management, 
and timely corrective measures for sustainability and to nourish improvement for the business of the Group.

Communications with the Investment Community

The Company is committed to maintaining a continuing open dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to 
facilitate understanding of the group’s management, financial position, operations, strategy and plans.

The Vice Chairman and the Chief Financial Officer have the prime responsibility for these activities, with the Vice 
Chairman taking the lead in the period immediately following the interim and final results announcements.

Regular	one-on-one	meetings	are	held	with	the	financial	community	which,	in	a	number	of	instances,	involve	visits	to	
production facilities.

The Company endeavours to be responsive to all media requests.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company has adopted a “Shareholders Communication Policy”, which is available on the Company’s website, 
setting out the Company’s procedures in providing the Shareholders and the investment community with ready, equal 
and timely access to balanced and understandable information about the Company, with a view to enabling the 
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow the Shareholders and the investment 
community to engage actively with the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general meeting (“SGM”)

Shareholders	holding	not	less	than	one-tenth	of	the	paid-up	capital	of	the	Company	can	deposit	a	written	request	to	the	
Board at both the principal office and registered office , for the attention of the Company Secretary, to convene a SGM.

The written request by shareholders must state the purposes of the meeting, signed by the shareholders concerned and 
may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of those shareholders.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is 
proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board of Directors to convene an SGM by serving sufficient 
notice in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered shareholders. On the contrary, if the request 
has been verified as not in order, the shareholders concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an SGM 
will not be convened as requested.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders for consideration of the proposal raised by the 
shareholders concerned at an SGM varies according to the nature of the proposal. Details of procedures are set out in 
the Company’s website.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of the requisitionsts and deposited with the 
Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal office as mentioned above.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders	holding	not	less	than	one-twentieth	of	the	total	voting	rights	of	all	shareholders	having	the	right	to	vote	at	
the general meeting; or not less than 100 shareholders holding shares in the Company, can submit a written request to 
move a resolution at the meeting.

The request will be verified with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is 
proper and in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board of Directors to include the resolution in the agenda for 
the meeting provided that the Shareholders concerned have deposited a sum of money reasonably sufficient to meet the 
Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted by the shareholders 
concerned in accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered shareholders. Details of procedures are set 
out in the Company’s website.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

There	 is	no	change	in	 the	Memorandum	of	Association	and	Bye-laws	of	 the	Company	during	 the	year	ended	30	June	
2017. The aforesaid constitutional document is available for public inspection at the Company’s Website.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal activities of its subsidiaries are the design, 
manufacture and distribution of ladies’ intimate apparel, principally brassieres.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion on the Group’s future business development and 
uncertainties and an analysis of the performance using financial key performance indicators are set out in the 
Chairman’s Statement on page 3 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 5 of this annual report. 
The principal risks facing the Group are set out in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 to 5 and the 
financial risk management objective and policies detailed in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details regarding the environmental, social and governance practices adopted by the Group will be set out in the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report by way of a separate report to be published on the websites of the HKEx 
and the Company no later than three months after the publication of this annual report.

In addition, the Group’s compliance with relevant laws and regulations and key relationships with employees, 
customers and suppliers are set out on page 42 of this annual report.

The Group has no significant subsequent events up to the date of this report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2017 are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on 
page 59.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend to propose a final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2017 (for the year ended 30 
June 2016: a final dividend of HK$0.05 per share).

The Board has recommended the declaration of a special dividend of HK$0.05 per share for the year ended 30 June 
2017 subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting (“AGM”). The proposed special dividend will be paid to the Shareholders on 29 November 2017 whose names 
appear on the registers of members of the Company on 15 November 2017.

An interim dividend of HK$0.05 per share for the six months ended 31 December 2016 has been paid to the 
Shareholders during the year ended 30 June 2017 (for the six months ended 31 December 2015: HK$0.05 per share).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTERS OF MEMBERS

(a) Entitlement to attend and vote at the 2017 AGM

The main and branch registers of members of the Company will be closed from 31 October 2017 to 3 November 
2017 for the purpose of determining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM. During that 
period, no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and 
vote at the AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the 
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 30 October 2017.

(b) Entitlement to the proposed special dividend

The main and branch registers of members of the Company will be closed from 13 November 2017 to 15 
November 2017 for the purpose of determining the shareholders’ entitlement to the proposed special dividend. 
During that period, no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed special dividend 
for the year ended 30 June 2017, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged 
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 10 November 2017.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 
124.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During	the	year	ended	30	June	2017,	the	Company	was	not	aware	of	any	non-compliance	with	any	relevant	laws	and	
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Employees are one of the greatest assets of the Company. The Group is committed to continuously grow and cultivate 
its pool of talent to build sustainable business. The Group provides resources for training and development opportunities 
for the employees. The Group also offers competitive remuneration package to its employees. Staff performance is 
measured on a regular and structured basis to provide employees with appropriate feedback and to ensure their 
alignment with the Group’s corporate strategy.

The	Group	has	developed	long-standing	and	good	relationships	with	its	customers	and	suppliers.	The	Group	serves	the	
customers and suppliers as business partners. The Group endeavours to provide quality service to its customers and 
works closely with the suppliers to ensure their awareness on quality requirements of the materials and quality control 
effectiveness.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of share capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements. 
There were no movements during the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Wong Chung Chong (Chairman)
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (Managing Director)
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (Vice Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Fung Wai Yiu
Lucas A.M. Laureys
Herman Van de Velde

Independent Non-executive Directors

Marvin Bienenfeld
Chow Yu Chun, Alexander 
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 
Lin Sun Mo, Willy

The biographical details of the Directors as at the date of this annual report are set out under the section headed 
“Biographical details of directors and senior management”.

In	accordance	with	bye-law	87(2)	of	 the	Company’s	Bye-laws,	Mr.	Wong	Kai	Chung,	Kevin,	Mr.	Fung	Wai	Yiu,	Ms.	
Leung	Churk	Yin,	Jeanny	and	Mr.	Lin	Sun	Mo,	Willy	will	retire	by	rotation	and,	being	eligible,	offer	themselves	for	re-
election at the AGM.

No	director	proposed	 for	 re-election	at	 the	AGM	has	a	service	contract	with	 the	Company	or	any	of	 its	 subsidiaries	
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory 
compensation.

The	Non-executive	Directors	have	not	been	appointed	for	a	specific	term	but	will	be	subject	to	retirement	by	rotation	in	
accordance	with	the	Company’s	Bye-laws.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE ON INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The	Company	has	 received	 from	each	of	 the	 Independent	Non-executive	Directors	an	annual	confirmation	of	his/her	
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Company has assessed 
their	independence	and	concluded	that	all	the	Independent	Non-executive	Directors	are	independent.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Wong Chung Chong (“Mr. Wong”), aged 71, has been the Chairman and an Executive Director since 31 October 2014 
and 19 November 1991 respectively. He is also the authorized representative and a member of the Nomination 
Committee	of	the	Company.	Mr.	Wong	is	the	co-founder	of	the	Group	and	has	taken	over	the	role	as	Chairman	of	the	
Company since 31 October 2014. He is responsible for managing the Board issue and supervising the management 
team in adherence to the long term strategic development of the Group. He attains extensive experience and is very 
knowledgeable in the brassiere manufacturing industry. He has over 51 years of experience in the brassiere trade. He is 
also a director of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Wong is the father of Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth and 
Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin, both are Executive Directors of the Company.

Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (“Mr. Kenneth Wong”), aged 43, has been an Executive Director and the Managing Director of 
the Company since 1 March 2011 and 22 May 2015 respectively. Mr. Kenneth Wong has been appointed as a member 
of the Nomination Committee of the Company since 19 February 2016. He joined the Group in 1997 and is a director 
of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited, a principal wholly owned subsidiary of the Company and various subsidiaries 
of the Company. Mr. Kenneth Wong is responsible for the Group’s business development and marketing functions. He 
is currently the Honorary Chairman of Hong Kong Intimate Apparel Industries’ Association since 1 December 2016. He 
is also a panel member of the Textile and Clothing Research Projects Assessment under Innovation and Technology 
Fund	 for	a	period	of	 two	years	starting	 from	1	 January	2017	 to	31	December	2018	and	 the	Vice	Chairman	of	Multi-
Textiles and Fashion Accessories Council for Federation of Hong Kong Industries for a period of two years from 2017 to 
2019. He holds a Bachelor degree in Marketing and Operations Management from School of Management, Boston 
University in the United States of America and a Master degree in International Business from Asian Institute of 
Technology in Thailand. He has been awarded the Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong 2015 by the Federation of 
Hong Kong Industries. Mr. Kenneth Wong is the son of Mr. Wong and the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kai Chung, Kevin.

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin (“Mr. Kevin Wong”), aged 41, has been an Executive Director and the Vice Chairman of the 
Company since 1 March 2011 and 22 May 2015 respectively. He is also the authorized representative of the Company. 
Mr. Kevin Wong has been appointed as an alternate Nomination Committee member to Mr. Kenneth Wong since 19 
February 2016. Mr. Kevin Wong joined the Group in 2001. He is a director of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited 
and various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Kevin Wong is responsible for the Group’s overall corporate function and 
operations. He has over 18 years of experience in business development and organisation. Mr. Kevin Wong graduated 
from Colby College, the United States of America majoring in Economics and International Studies in 1998. He was 
awarded a Master of Business Administration degree issued jointly by the Kellogg School of Management at 
Northwestern University and the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in 2016. He is the holder of the 
Chartered Financial Analyst designation. Mr. Kevin Wong is the son of Mr. Wong and the younger brother of Mr. 
Kenneth Wong.
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Non-executive Directors

Fung Wai Yiu (“Mr. Fung”),	aged	69,	is	a	Non-executive	Director	and	a	member	of	the	Nomination	Committee	of	the	
Company.	Since	1998	and	prior	to	his	re-designation	as	a	Non-executive	Director	of	the	Company	on	31	October	2014,	
Mr. Fung served as the Chairman and an Executive Director of the Company and was responsible for the Group’s 
business strategy and development. Mr. Fung is currently a director of Hongkong Sales (International) Limited, a 
knitwear apparel manufacturing company. He has over 50 years of experience in the apparel industry.

Lucas A.M. Laureys (“Mr. Laureys”),	aged	72,	has	been	a	Non-executive	Director	of	 the	Company	since	September	
2002.	He	has	been	re-designated	as	a	non-executive	director	of	Van	de	Velde	N.	V.	since	1	January	2016,	the	shares	of	
which are listed on the NYSE Euronext Brussels stock exchange. Mr. Laureys has over 45 years of experience in the 
brassiere trade and specialises in marketing. Mr. Laureys holds a degree in Economics from the University of Ghent, a 
Master Degree in Marketing from the University of Leuven and a Master Degree in Business Administration from the 
University of Ghent Vlerick Business School. He was formerly a board member of Delta Lloyd Bank N. V. and the 
Chairman of the Board of Omega Pharma (a company previously listed on Euronext).

Herman Van de Velde (“Mr. Van de Velde”),	 aged	63,	has	been	a	Non-executive	Director	of	 the	Company	since	
September 2002. He also serves as a member of the Compensation Committee and the Nomination Committee of the 
Company. He has been appointed as the Chairman of the board of Van de Velde N. V. since 1 January 2016 and 
remains	a	non-executive	director	of	Van	de	Velde	N.	V.,	the	shares	of	which	are	listed	on	the	NYSE	Euronext	Brussels	
stock exchange. He is also an independent director of Alsico, a Belgian garment company and Brabantia, a Dutch 
family	owned	company.	He	also	holds	 several	mandates	 in	non-profit	organisations.	Mr.	Van	de	Velde	 joined	 the	
brassiere industry in 1981 and is well versed in operating the brassiere business in Europe.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Marvin Bienenfeld (“Mr. Bienenfeld”),	aged	85,	was	appointed	as	a	Non-executive	Director	of	the	Company	in	August	
1998	and	 then	 re-designated	as	an	 Independent	Non-executive	Director	of	 the	Company	 in	September	2004.	Mr.	
Bienenfeld also serves as the Chairman of the Compensation Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and the 
Nomination Committee of the Company. He was formerly the Chairman of Bestform Inc. and has over 56 years of 
experience in the ladies’ intimate apparel industry in the United States of America.

Chow Yu Chun, Alexander (“Mr. Chow”),	aged	70,	has	been	an	Independent	Non-executive	Director	of	the	Company	
since February 1993. He also serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit 
Committee. Mr. Chow is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He 
has over 38 years of experience in commercial, financial and investment management in Hong Kong and Mainland 
China.	Mr.	Chow	is	currently	an	 independent	non-executive	director	of	Symphony	Holdings	Limited,	Playmates	Toys	
Limited and China Strategic Holdings Limited, all companies are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and an 
independent	non-executive	director	of	Aquis	Entertainment	Limited,	 the	shares	of	which	are	 listed	on	 the	Australian	
Securities Exchange.

Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny (“Ms. Leung”),	aged	52,	has	been	an	 Independent	Non-executive	Director	of	 the	Company	
since	September	2008.	Prior	to	this,	she	had	been	an	Executive	Director	of	the	Company	since	February	1998	and	re-
designated	as	a	Non-executive	Director	 in	April	1999.	She	also	 serves	as	a	member	of	 the	Audit	Committee,	 the	
Compensation Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Leung is a seasoned investment banker 
with 30 years of corporate finance experience in Hong Kong, Mainland China and Taiwan. Ms. Leung is currently an 
executive director of Altus Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange.

Leung Ying Wah, Lambert (“Mr. Leung”),	aged	70,	has	been	an	Independent	Non-executive	Director	of	the	Company	
since May 2006. He is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Compensation Committee and the 
Nomination Committee. Mr. Leung is the Chief Executive Officer of a leading construction materials company. He is a 
fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the Institute of Quarrying (UK). Mr. Leung is currently the Chairman of the Hong Kong Cement Traders 
and Producers Association and the Past Chairman of the Hong Kong Construction Materials Association.

Lin Sun Mo, Willy (“Mr. Lin”),	SBS,	MBE,	JP,	FCILT,	aged	58,	has	been	an	Independent	Non-executive	Director	of	the	
Company since May 2006. Mr. Lin also serves as a member of both Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the 
Company. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree from Babson College in the United States of America and is the 
Managing Director of Milo’s Knitwear (International) Limited. Mr. Lin is the Chairman of The Hong Kong Shippers’ 
Council, Honorary Chairman of Textile Council of Hong Kong, Member of both Hong Kong Logistics Development 
Council and Hong Kong Maritime and Port Board, Committee Member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative 
Committee of Jieyang, Guangdong, Honorary Trade Advisor of Ministry of Commerce of Thailand and Honorary Consul 
of the Slovak Republic in Hong Kong and Macao.
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Senior Management

Chan Man Ying, aged 42, is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group and the Company Secretary of the Company. She 
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. She joined the Group in 2004 and has many years of professional experience in accounting, auditing and 
financial management areas.

Michael Allen Lurer, aged 42, is the director of manufacturing of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited. He oversees all 
production operations in Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited. He joined the Group in 1997 and has over 20 years of 
experience in intimate apparel manufacturing. He holds a Bachelor degree in International Trade and Foreign Business 
from Dalian University, the People’s Republic of China.

Wan Ho Yau, David, aged 59, is a director of Grand Gain Industrial Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, producing 
foam pads and accessories for brassiere manufacturing. He joined the Group in 1994. He holds degrees in Computer 
Science and Business Administration from York University, Toronto, Canada.

Wong Chor Wai, aged 49, joined the Group in 1989 and is a director of Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited. He 
holds a Bachelor degree in Science from The University of Hong Kong.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has been for the past 35 years conducting transactions with Van de Velde N. V. (“VdV”) by supplying ladies’ 
intimate apparel to VdV. VdV is a connected person of the Company by virtue of it being a substantial shareholder of 
the Company holding approximately 25.66% of the issued share capital of the Company. Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys and 
Mr.	Herman	Van	de	Velde,	 the	non-executive	director	and	 the	Chairman	of	VdV	 respectively,	are	Non-executive	
Directors of the Company. Mr. Herman Van de Velde and the two daughters of Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys (associates of 
Mr. Lucas A.M. Laureys under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) hold an indirect 
equity interest of 56.26% in VdV via a jointly controlled corporation and therefore they are deemed to be connected 
persons of the Company. All transactions between VdV and the Group would constitute continuing connected 
transactions (“Continuing Connected Transactions”) pursuant to the Listing Rules of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. 
Accordingly, a master agreement dated 18 September 2005 (the “Master Agreement”) had been entered into between 
VdV and the Company to govern the Continuing Connected Transactions and to set annual caps for the Continuing 
Connected Transactions in respect of the three financial years ended 30 June 2008.

The Master Agreement had been renewed by entering into (i) the 1st renewal agreement dated 12 June 2008 between 
VdV and the Company for a terms of three years ended 30 June 2011; (ii) the 2nd renewal agreement dated 1 April 
2011 between VdV and the Company for a terms of three years ended 30 June 2014; (iii) the 3rd renewal agreement 
dated 9 April 2014 between VdV and the Company for a terms of three years ended 30 June 2017; and (iv) the 4th 
renewal agreement (“the 4th Renewal Agreement”) dated 10 April 2017 between VdV and the Company for a terms of 
three years ending 30 June 2020.

An announcement dated 10 April 2017 and a circular dated 4 May 2017 regarding the renewal of the Continuing 
Connected Transactions contemplated under the 4th Renewal Agreement and the relevant annual caps set for the three 
financial years ending 30 June 2020 of HK$130 million, HK$145 million and HK$160 million respectively had been 
published and despatched to Shareholders and an approval had been obtained from Independent Shareholders of the 
Company on 25 May 2017.

Details of the Continuing Connected Transactions conducted during the year under review were set out below:

Name of the 
connected person

Nature of the continuing 
connected transactions

Amount

Annual cap set 
for the year ended 

30 June 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000

VdV Sale of ladies’ intimate apparel by the Group to VdV 105,567 200,000
    

Pursuant	 to	Rule	14A.55	of	 the	Listing	Rules	of	 the	Hong	Kong	Stock	Exchange,	 the	 Independent	Non-executive	
Directors of the Company have conducted an annual review and confirmed to the Board that during the year the 
Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. on normal commercial terms; and

3. in accordance with the agreement governing such transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the 
interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with 
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews 
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practices Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected 
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The 
auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected 
transactions set out above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been 
provided by the Company to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Other than the Continuing Connected Transactions as disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transactions” 
above, there were no contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which 
any one of the Directors of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of 
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, the following Directors were considered to have interests in the following business, which competes or 
is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group as required to be disclosed pursuant to 
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules:

Mr.	Lucas	A.M.	Laureys	is	the	non-executive	director	of	VdV	whose	principal	business	activity	is	the	manufacture	and	
marketing of luxury lingerie. The Board considers that the business of VdV may indirectly compete with the business of 
the Group.

Mr.	Herman	Van	de	Velde,	 the	Chairman	of	 the	board	of	VdV	and	non-executive	director	of	VdV,	has	an	 indirect	
interest in Van de Velde Holding N. V. which held a direct interest of 56.26% in VdV whose principal business activity 
is the manufacture and marketing of luxury lingerie. The Board considers the business of VdV may indirectly compete 
with the business of the Group.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors during the year has any interest in businesses which compete or may 
compete with the business of the Group, or have or may have any other conflicts of interest with the Group.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

No rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to any 
Director or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, nor were any such rights exercised by them, nor was 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, or their respective spouse or 
children under 18 years of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate during the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 
Company was entered into or existed during the year under review.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant	to	the	Bye-laws	of	the	Company,	the	Directors	of	the	Company	shall	be	indemnified	and	secured	harmless	out	
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses 
which they or any of them may incur about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices.

Throughout the year, the Company has maintained directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, which provides cover for 
the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ OR CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2017, the interests and short positions of the Directors or the chief executives of the Company in the 
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV 
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), which were notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they have 
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be entered in the register 
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long positions:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each of the Company

Name of Director Capacity

Number of 
issued ordinary 

shares held

Percentage of the 
issued share capital 

of the Company

Wong Chung Chong Beneficial owner and interests held by spouse and 
 trust and persons acting in concert (note 1)

60,826,823 28.29%

Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth Beneficiary of trust and persons acting in 
 concert (note 2)

60,626,823 28.19%

Wong Kai Chung, Kevin Beneficiary of trust and interests held by a controlled 
 corporation and persons acting in concert (note 3)

60,626,823 28.19%

Marvin Bienenfeld Beneficial owner 170,000 0.08%
Chow Yu Chun, Alexander Beneficial owner 680,104 0.32%
Fung Wai Yiu Beneficial owner and interests held by spouse (note 4) 8,705,704 4.05%
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny Beneficial owner 14,104 0.01%
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert Beneficial owner 80,000 0.04%
Herman Van de Velde Interests held by a controlled corporation (note 5) 55,184,708 25.66%

Notes:

1. 4,288,504 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Wong Chung Chong (“Mr. Wong”) whereas 220,000 shares were held by the spouse of Mr. 
Wong and 52,318,319 shares were registered in the name of High Union Holdings Inc., the shares of which were held by Safeguard Trustee 
Limited, a trustee of a family trust of which Mr. Wong is the settlor and the family members of Mr. Wong were eligible beneficiaries. 4,000,000 
shares were registered in the name of Triple Gains Ventures Limited (“TGV”), 41.36% equity interest of which was held by Mr. Wong Kai Chung, 
Kevin (“Mr. Kevin Wong”), and deemed to be interested by Mr. Wong who was a party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) 
of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

2. 52,318,319 shares were registered in the name of High Union Holdings Inc., the shares of which were held by Safeguard Trustee Limited, a trustee 
of a family trust of which Mr. Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth (“Mr. Kenneth Wong”) was eligible beneficiary whereas 8,308,504 shares were deemed to 
be interested by Mr. Kenneth Wong who was a party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

3. 52,318,319 shares were registered in the name of High Union Holdings Inc., the shares of which were held by Safeguard Trustee Limited, a trustee 
of a family trust of which Mr. Kevin Wong was eligible beneficiary whereas 4,000,000 shares were held by TGV, 41.36% equity interest of which 
was held by Mr. Kevin Wong, and 4,308,504 shares were deemed to be interested by Mr. Kevin Wong who was a party to certain agreements to 
which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

4. 4,618,504 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. Fung Wai Yiu (“Mr. Fung”) whereas 4,087,200 shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Fung.

5. 55,184,708 shares were held by VdV. Mr. Herman Van de Velde held an indirect equity interest in Van de Velde Holding N. V. which in turn 
directly held 56.26% of the equity interest of VdV.

Certain nominee shares in the Company’s subsidiaries were held by Mr. Wong in trust for the Company’s subsidiaries as 
at 30 June 2017.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor his/her associates had any interests or short positions in any shares, 
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

As at 30 June 2017, the register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the 
SFO and as far as was known to the Directors of the Company, persons (other than the Directors) who had interests or 
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company 
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.50 each of the Company

Name of Shareholder Capacity

Number of 
issued ordinary 

shares held

Percentage of the 
issued share capital 

of the Company

High Union Holdings Inc. Beneficial owner and persons acting in concert (note 1) 60,626,823 28.19%
TGV Beneficial owner and persons acting in concert (note 2) 60,626,823 28.19%
VdV Beneficial owner 55,184,708 25.66%
David Michael Webb Beneficial owner and interests held by a controlled 

 corporation (note 3)
10,772,000 5%

Notes:

1. 52,318,319 shares were beneficially owned by High Union Holdings Inc. whereas 8,308,504 shares were deemed to be interested by High Union 
Holdings Inc. which was a party to certain agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

2. 4,000,000 shares were beneficially owned by TGV whereas 56,626,823 shares were deemed to be interested by TGV which was a party to certain 
agreements to which sections 317(1)(a) and/or (b) of the SFO (Cap. 571) apply.

3. 3,562,200 shares were beneficially owned by Mr. David Michael Webb and 7,209,800 shares were held by Preferable Situation Assets Limited, 
the shares of which were held by Mr. David Michael Webb.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares during 
the year ended 30 June 2017.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There	are	no	provisions	for	pre-emptive	rights	under	the	Company’s	Bye-laws	although	there	are	no	restrictions	against	
such	rights	under	 the	 laws	 in	Bermuda	which	would	oblige	 the	Company	 to	offer	new	shares	on	a	pro-rata	basis	 to	
existing Shareholders.



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

Top Form International Limited Annual Report 201752

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The respective percentages of the Group’s purchases from major suppliers and revenue attributable to major customers 
for the year ended 30 June 2017, were as follows:

—	 Percentage	of	purchases	attributable	to	the	Group’s	largest	supplier	 16%

—	 Percentage	of	purchases	attributable	to	the	Group’s	five	largest	suppliers	 41%

—	 Percentage	of	revenue	attributable	to	the	Group’s	largest	customer	 50%

—	 Percentage	of	revenue	attributable	to	the	Group’s	five	largest	customers	 79%

During	the	year,	Mr.	Herman	Van	de	Velde,	a	Non-executive	Director	of	the	Company,	has	a	beneficial	interest	in	VdV,	
which is one of the Group’s five largest customers.

All transactions between the Group and the customers concerned were carried out on normal commercial terms.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to HK$76,000 (2016: HK$101,000).

EMOLUMENT POLICY

As at 30 June 2017, the Group had employed approximately 8,538 employees (30 June 2016: approximately 7,825 
employees).

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees are structured with reference to the prevailing market 
conditions and statutory requirements as appropriate. The Group also provides other staff benefits such as medical 
insurance, mandatory provident fund contributions and a share option scheme to its employees.

Details of remuneration of Directors on an individual basis are disclosed in this report. A significant proportion of the 
compensation of the Executive Directors is based on individual performance and the financial performance of the 
Group.	The	compensation	policy	 for	Non-executive	Directors	 is	designed	 to	ensure	 that	 they	are	sufficiently	but	not	
excessively compensated for their efforts and time dedicated to the Group.

The Group established a Compensation Committee in 2001 and its functions and duties are, inter alia, to review and 
recommend to the Board the overall remuneration policy of the Group as well as the remuneration packages for 
Executive Directors.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Information on the Group’s retirement benefit schemes is set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company has maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended 30 June 2017 as required under the Listing 
Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance principles and practices and has 
throughout the year, except for the deviations stated and explained in the Corporate Governance Report set out on 
pages 6 to 40 of this report, complied with the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code, Appendix 
14 to the Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules of Hong Kong Stock Exchange 
as its own code for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Based on specific enquiry made with all 
Directors, the Company considers that the Directors complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code 
throughout the year under review.

Employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the Company are also subject to compliance with 
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, together with the management and the Company’s external auditors, have reviewed the 
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and financial reporting 
matters, and reviewed the financial results for the year ended 30 June 2017.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 have been audited by Messrs. KPMG who will 
retire	and	offer	themselves	for	re-appointment	at	the	forthcoming	AGM.	A	resolution	for	the	re-appointment	of	Messrs.	
KPMG as the Company’s auditors will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chung Chong
Chairman
Hong Kong
24 August 2017
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To the shareholders of Top Form International Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Top Form International Limited (“the Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 59 to 122, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 30 June 2017, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 30 June 2017 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 
opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS – continued

Recoverability of trade receivables

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(m)(i).

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 30 June 2017, the Group’s gross trade receivables 
totalled HK$191 million. Allowances for doubtful debts 
of HK$4.7 million were recorded as at the year end date.

Management’s assessment of the recoverability of the 
Group’s trade receivable balances is made by taking into 
account the credit history of the Group’s customers and 
current	market	and	customer-specific	conditions,	all	of	
which involve a significant degree of judgement. The 
Group’s analysis is computed on a specific individual 
debtor basis based on historical experience adjusted for 
certain current factors.

We identified assessing the recoverability of trade 
receivables as a key audit matter because the assessment 
of the financial condition of the Group’s debtors and the 
conditions of the markets in which they operate can be 
inherently uncertain and involves the exercise of a 
significant degree of management judgement.

Our audit procedures to assess the recoverability of trade 
receivables included the following:

•	 obtaining	an	understanding	of	 and	assessing	 the	
design, implementation and operating effectiveness 
of management’s key internal controls relating to 
credit control, debt collection and management’s 
assessment of the allowances for doubtful debts;

•	 evaluating	 the	completeness	and	accuracy	of	 the	
trade receivable ageing report by selecting a 
sample of invoices from the report and assessing 
whe the r  t he se  we re  c l a s s i f i ed  w i t h in  t he 
appropriate ageing brackets based on the number 
of days for which payment was overdue;

•	 obta ining	 an	 unders tanding	 of 	 the	 bas is 	 o f	
management’s judgements about the recoverability 
of the Group’s significant or long overdue trade 
receivable balances and evaluating the allowances 
for doubtful debts made by management for these 
individual balances with reference to the debtors’ 
financial condition based on management’s recent 
correspondence with the relevant debtors, evidence 
of defaults or disputes, the markets in which the 
debtors are operating, the ageing of overdue 
balances and historical and post year end payment 
records;

•	 assessing	 the	assumptions	adopted	and	estimates	
made by the management in calculating the 
allowances for doubtful debts by performing a 
retrospective review of the historical accuracy of 
these assumptions and estimates and assessing 
whether	material	write-offs	 of	 trade	 receivable	
balances had occurred historically;

•	 inspecting	cash	receipts	from	customers	subsequent	
to the financial year end relating to trade receivable 
balances as at 30 June 2017.
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Valuation of inventories

Refer to note 17 to the financial statements and the accounting policies in note 2(f) to the financial statements.

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

As at 30 June 2017, the Group’s gross inventories 
totalled HK$180.8 million. A provision for excessive and 
obsolete inventories of HK$30.5 million was recorded as 
at the year end date against these inventories.

The Group’s provision for inventories is based on 
management’s estimate of the expected magnitude of 
write-offs	of	the	Group’s	inventories	during	the	course	of	
the manufacturing process and the current and projected 
demand from customers for the relevant inventories, the 
condit ion and ut i l isat ion potential of individual 
inventories	and	other	customer-specific	conditions,	all	of	
which involve the exercise of a significant degree of 
management judgement.

We identified assessing the valuation of inventories as a 
key audit matter because of the inherent risk that the 
Group’s inventories may become obsolete or may be 
sold at prices below their carrying values and because 
the judgement exercised by management in determining 
the appropriate provision for inventories involves 
management’s assessment of factors which can be 
inherently uncertain and complex.

Our audi t  procedures to assess the valuat ion of 
inventories included the following:

•	 evaluating	 the	 group’s	 policy	 for	 provision	 for	
inventories with reference to the requirements of 
the prevailing accounting standards;

•	 assessing	whether	 the	calculation	of	 the	provision	
for inventories at the reporting date was consistent 
with the Group’s inventory provision policy by 
recalculating the provision for inventories based on 
the percentages and other parameters in the 
Group’s inventory provision policy;

•	 evaluating	whether	management	had	appropriately	
identified	 obsolete	 or	 slow-moving	 inventories	
from the Group’s total inventory balance by 
assess ing the recoverabi l i ty of  a sample of 
inventory items in the full inventory report with 
reference to confirmed sales orders and assessing 
whether	 the	obsolete	or	 slow-moving	 inventories	
identified had been accounted for in the inventory 
provision calculation;

•	 enquiring	 of	 the	Managing	Director	 and	 senior	
members of the management team about any 
expected changes in plans for production and 
fo recas t  sa le s  t r ends  and compar ing  the i r 
representations with actual sales and inventory 
movements subsequent to the reporting date;

•	 assessing	the	Group’s	inventory	provision	policy	by	
comparing management’s projections of the amounts 
of inventories which will be sold with historical sales 
amounts for the current and prior years and by 
comparing	historical	write-offs	with	provisions	 for	
inventories recorded in previous years;

•	 comparing	 inventory	balances	on	a	 sample	basis	
with respective balances in prior years to identify 
inventories which are relatively slow moving; and

•	 assessing	 the	Group’s	provision	 for	 inventories	by	
comparing, on a sample basis, the prices of 
inventories sold subsequent to the reporting date as 
detailed in sales invoices with their carrying values 
at the reporting date.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS – continued
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S 
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included in 
the annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s 
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This 
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other 
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

—	 Identify	and	assess	 the	 risks	of	material	misstatement	of	 the	consolidated	 financial	 statements,	whether	due	 to	
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS – continued

—	 Obtain	an	understanding	of	 internal	control	 relevant	 to	 the	audit	 in	order	 to	design	audit	procedures	 that	are	
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

—	 Evaluate	 the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	 the	 reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	and	
related disclosures made by the directors.

—	 Conclude	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	directors’	use	of	the	going	concern	basis	of	accounting	and,	based	on	the	
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

—	 Evaluate	 the	overall	presentation,	 structure	and	content	of	 the	consolidated	 financial	 statements,	 including	 the	
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

—	 Obtain	 sufficient	 appropriate	audit	 evidence	 regarding	 the	 financial	 information	of	 the	entities	or	business	
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought 
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Cheng Mei Yan Hilary.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

24 August 2017
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Note 2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Revenue 5 1,126,008 1,179,025

Cost of sales (920,758) (968,424)
    

Gross profit 205,250 210,601

Other income 15,367 21,917
Selling and distribution expenses (27,694) (24,270)
General and administrative expenses (191,646) (173,125)
Finance costs 6 (222) (233)
Share of profits of a joint venture 7,396 5,054
    

Profit before tax 7 8,451 39,944

Income tax expense 9 (2,473) (5,660)
    

Profit for the year 5,978 34,284
    

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company 5,397 32,298
Non-controlling	interests 581 1,986
    

5,978 34,284
    

Earnings per share 11

Basic HK$0.025 HK$0.15
    

The notes on pages 66 to 122 form part of these financial statements. Details of dividends payable to equity 
shareholders of the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 10.
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Note 2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Profit for the year 5,978 34,284
    

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

Reversal of deferred tax liability upon disposal of 
 investment properties 23 2,516 –
Remeasurement of provision for long service payments 22 (172) (64)
    

2,344 (64)
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation of 
 operations outside Hong Kong
	 —	subsidiaries 2,288 (7,130)
	 —	a	joint	venture (239) (429)
Reclassification of translation reserve upon loss of control in subsidiaries – (4,260)
    

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax 4,393 (11,883)
    

Total comprehensive income for the year 10,371 22,401
    

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 9,806 20,696
Non-controlling	interests 565 1,705
    

10,371 22,401
    

The notes on pages 66 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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Note 2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 111,622 96,748
Prepaid land lease payments 13 1,480 1,527
Investment properties 14 84,180 100,991
Derivative financial instrument 19 4,313 3,639
Interest in a joint venture 15 24,736 17,580
Prepaid rental payments 16 936 1,335
    

227,267 221,820
    

Current assets

Inventories 17 150,284 135,293
Debtors and other receivables 18 209,694 192,245
Amount due from a joint venture – 11
Prepaid land lease payments 13 48 48
Current tax recoverable 1,105 –
Bank balances and cash 19 133,300 166,680
    

494,431 494,277
    

Current liabilities

Creditors and accrued charges 20 139,300 117,460
Obligation under finance lease 21 145 139
Current tax payable 4,210 4,638
    

143,655 122,237
    

Net current assets 350,776 372,040
    

The notes on pages 66 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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Note 2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Total assets less current liabilities 578,043 593,860
    

Non-current liabilities

Obligation under finance lease 21 205 338
Retirement benefit obligations 22 939 1,253
Deferred tax liabilities 23 20,999 23,436
    

22,143 25,027
    

555,900 568,833
    

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital 25 107,519 107,519
Reserves 438,501 450,199
    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 546,020 557,718
Non-controlling	interests 9,880 11,115
    

555,900 568,833
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 August 2017.

Wong Chung Chong Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
Chairman Managing Director

The notes on pages 66 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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Attributable to owners of the Company
 

Note
Share 

capital
Share 

premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
Special 
reserve

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Retained 

profits Total

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
(Note)

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2015 107,519 1,499 233 7,139 72,499 12,305 357,332 558,526 20,447 578,973            

Exchange differences arising on  
 translation of operations outside  
 Hong Kong (including subsidiaries  
 and joint venture) – – – – – (7,278) – (7,278) (281) (7,559)
Reclassification of translation reserve 
 upon loss of control in subsidiaries – – – – – (4,260) – (4,260) – (4,260)
Remeasurement of provision for 
 long service payments – – – – – – (64) (64) – (64)
Profit for the year – – – – – – 32,298 32,298 1,986 34,284            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – – (11,538) 32,234 20,696 1,705 22,401            

Derecognition	of	non-controlling	interest	
 upon loss on control in subsidiaries – – – – – – – – (8,637) (8,637)
Dividends approved in respect of 
 the previous year 10 – – – – – – (10,752) (10,752) – (10,752)
Dividends declared in respect of 
 the current year 10 – – – – – – (10,752) (10,752) – (10,752)
Dividends declared to
	 non-controlling	interests – – – – – – – – (2,400) (2,400)            

At 30 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 107,519 1,499 233 7,139 72,499 767 368,062 557,718 11,115 568,833            

Exchange differences arising on 
 translation of operations outside 
 Hong Kong (including subsidiaries  
 and joint venture) – – – – – 2,065 – 2,065 (16) 2,049
Reclassification of asset revaluation 
 reserve upon disposal of investment  
 properties 14 – – – – (15,250) – 15,250 – – –
Reversal of deferred tax liability upon 
 disposal of investment properties 23 – – – – 2,516 – – 2,516 – 2,516
Remeasurement of provision for 
 long service payments – – – – – – (172) (172) – (172)
Profit for the year – – – – – – 5,397 5,397 581 5,978            

Total comprehensive income for the year – – – – (12,734) 2,065 20,475 9,806 565 10,371            

Dividends approved in respect of 
 the previous year 10 – – – – – – (10,752) (10,752) – (10,752)
Dividends declared in respect of  
 the current year 10 – – – – – – (10,752) (10,752) – (10,752)
Dividends declared to
	 non-controlling	interests – – – – – – – – (1,800) (1,800)            

At 30 June 2017 107,519 1,499 233 7,139 59,765 2,832 367,033 546,020 9,880 555,900
            

Note: Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal amount of the share capital issued by the Company and the aggregate of the 
nominal amount of share capital of the companies forming the Group, pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1991.

The notes on pages 66 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Operating activities

Profit before tax 8,451 39,944

Adjustments for:
	 Reversal	of	over-provision	for	long	service	payments (167) (73)
 Increase in fair value of investment properties (3,520) (1,786)
 Net allowance for doubtful debts 4,662 –
 Allowance for obsolete inventories 9,160 5,776
 Interest income (546) (1,589)
 Finance costs 222 233
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 20,582 21,120
 Release of prepaid land lease payments 47 48
 Fair value gain on derivative financial instrument (674) (3,639)
 Share of profits of a joint venture (7,396) (5,054)
 Gain arising from reclassification of translation reserve upon 
  loss of control in subsidiaries – (4,260)
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (186) (126)
    

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 30,635 50,594

Decrease in prepaid rental payments 451 480
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (24,273) 42,087
Increase in debtors and other receivables (20,891) (18,340)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors and accrued charges 22,367 (24,331)
Benefits paid for long service payments (319) (198)
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to a joint venture 11 (1,934)
    

Cash generated from operations 7,981 48,358

Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (2,959) (6,334)
Taxation paid in other jurisdictions (637) (902)
    

Net cash generated from operating activities 4,385 41,122
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Note 2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Investing activities

Net cash outflow upon loss of control in subsidiaries – (7,609)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (34,089) (13,394)
Interest income 546 1,589
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 14 19,000 –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 284 177
    

Net cash used in investing activities (14,259) (19,237)
    

Financing activities

Capital element of finance lease rentals paid (104) (81)
Interest element of finance lease rentals paid (41) (5)
Interest paid (181) (228)
Dividends paid 10 (21,504) (21,504)
Dividends	paid	to	non-controlling	interests (1,800) (2,400)
    

Net cash used in financing activities (23,630) (24,218)
    

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (33,504) (2,333)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 166,680 169,215

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 124 (202)
    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 133,300 166,680
    

Analysis of the balances of cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash 133,300 166,680
    

The notes on pages 66 to 122 form part of these financial statements.
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1 GENERAL

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed 
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The addresses of the registered 
office and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in the section of corporate information of the 
annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal subsidiaries are engaged in the design, manufacture 
and distribution of ladies’ intimate apparel, principally brassieres.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is different from the 
functional currency of the Company, being United States dollars (“USD”). As the Company is a public company 
with shares listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and most of its investors are located in Hong Kong, the 
directors consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the operating result and financial position of the Group.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2017 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in a joint venture.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting 
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The financial statements also comply with the 
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early adoption for 
the current accounting period of the group. Note 3 provides information on any changes in accounting policies 
resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the 
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for derivative 
financial instruments and certain properties that are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting 
policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other 
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making 
the judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial 
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(a) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights 
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date that 
control	commences	until	the	date	that	control	ceases.	Intra-group	balances,	transactions	and	cash	flows	and	
any	 unrealised	 profits	 arising	 from	 intra-group	 transactions	 are	 eliminated	 in	 full	 in	 preparing	 the	
consolidated	financial	statements.	Unrealised	losses	resulting	from	intra-group	transactions	are	eliminated	in	
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling	 interests	 represent	 the	equity	 in	a	subsidiary	not	attributable	directly	or	 indirectly	 to	 the	
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those 
interests which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those 
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling	 interests	are	presented	 in	 the	consolidated	statement	of	 financial	position	within	equity,	
separately	 from	equity	attributable	 to	 the	equity	shareholders	of	 the	Company.	Non-controlling	interests	 in	
the results of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit 
or	 loss	and	 total	 comprehensive	 income	 for	 the	year	between	non-controlling	 interests	 and	 the	equity	
shareholders of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that 
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former 
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair 
value on initial recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an 
investment in an associate or joint venture (see note 2(b)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 
impairment losses (see note 2(n)).
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(b) Joint ventures

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or Company and other parties contractually agree to 
share control of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity 
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as held for 
sale). Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the 
Group’s	share	of	the	acquisition-date	fair	values	of	the	investee’s	identifiable	net	assets	over	the	cost	of	the	
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s 
share	of	 the	 investee’s	net	assets	and	any	 impairment	 loss	 relating	 to	 the	 investment.	Any	acquisition-date	
excess	over	 cost,	 the	Group’s	 share	of	 the	post-acquisition,	post-tax	 results	 of	 the	 investees	 and	any	
impairment losses for the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the 
Group’s	 share	of	 the	post-acquisition	post-tax	 items	of	 the	 investees’	other	 comprehensive	 income	 is	
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to 
nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is 
the	carrying	amount	of	the	investment	under	the	equity	method	together	with	the	Group’s	long-term	interests	
that in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its joint venture are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses provide 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised immediately in profit 
or loss.

(c) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts 
receivable for goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which 
time all of the following conditions are satisfied:

—	 the	Group	has	transferred	to	the	buyer	the	significant	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	of	the	goods;

—	 the	Group	retains	neither	continuing	managerial	 involvement	 to	 the	degree	usually	associated	with	
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

—	 the	amount	of	revenue	can	be	measured	reliably;

—	 it	is	probable	that	the	economic	benefits	associated	with	the	transaction	will	flow	to	the	Group;	and

—	 the	costs	incurred	or	to	be	incurred	in	respect	of	the	transaction	can	be	measured	reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time 
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to 
that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(d) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land (classified as finance leases) and buildings held for 
use in the production or supply of goods, or for administrative purposes, other than properties under 
construction, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, other than 
properties	under	construction	 less	 their	 residual	values,	over	 their	estimated	useful	 life,	using	 the	straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, 
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing 
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are classified to the 
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended use. 
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets are 
ready for their intended use.

If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has changed as 
evidenced	by	end	of	owner-occupation,	any	difference	between	 the	carrying	amount	and	 the	 fair	value	of	
that item at the date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the asset 
revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will 
be transferred directly to retained profits.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on disposal or 
retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the profit or loss.

(e) Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair values. Gains or losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the period in 
which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising 
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is derecognised.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(f) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated using 
the weighted average method and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs 
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognised as an expense in the 
period	 in	which	 the	 related	 revenue	 is	 recognised.	The	amount	of	any	write-down	of	 inventories	 to	net	
realisable	value	and	all	 losses	of	 inventories	are	recognised	as	an	expense	in	the	period	the	write-down	or	
loss	occurs.	The	amount	of	any	reversal	of	any	write-down	of	inventories	is	recognised	as	a	reduction	in	the	
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

(g) Leasing

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions, is or contains a lease if the group 
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of time 
in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based on an evaluation of the 
substance of the arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a lease.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

(i) The Group as lessor

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments 
over the term of the relevant lease. Contingent rentals are recognized as income in the accounting 
period in which they are earned.

(ii) The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments over the lease term.

Lease incentives received are to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. Lease incentives received are recognized in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate 
net lease payments made.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(g) Leasing – continued

(ii) The Group as lessee – continued

Lease prepayments are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
classification is made according to their characteristics:

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the Group assesses the classification of each 
element as a finance or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to whether 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been transferred to 
the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease is 
classified	as	operating	 lease.	Specifically,	 the	minimum	 lease	payments	 (including	any	 lump-sum	
upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the building elements in proportion to the 
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land element and building element of the lease at 
the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that 
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid land lease payments” in the 
consolidated	statement	of	 financial	position	and	 is	amortised	over	 the	 lease	 term	on	a	straight-line	
basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, 
the entire lease is generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as “land and buildings” 
under property, plant and equipment.

Other rental prepayments

Other rental prepayments for operating leases are recognised at cost and amortised as an expense on a 
straight-line	 basis	 over	 the	 lease	 term	 and	 are	 presented	 as	 “prepaid	 rental	 payments”	 in	 the	
consolidated statement of financial position.

(h) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than 
the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional currency 
(i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchange 
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated 
in	foreign	currencies	are	retranslated	at	the	rates	prevailing	at	that	date.	Non-monetary	items	carried	at	fair	
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the 
fair	value	was	determined.	Non-monetary	 items	 that	are	measured	 in	 terms	of	historical	cost	 in	a	 foreign	
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items, 
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the 
retranslation	of	non-monetary	items	carried	at	fair	value	are	included	in	profit	or	loss	for	the	period.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Top Form International Limited Annual Report 201772

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(h) Foreign currencies – continued

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s 
foreign operations are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using 
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at the 
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which 
case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used.

Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed to non controlling interests as appropriate). On 
disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange differences relating to that foreign 
operation is reclassified from equity to profit or loss.

(i) Borrowing costs

All	borrowing	costs	 for	non-qualifying	assets	are	expensed	to	the	profit	or	 loss	 in	 the	period	in	which	they	
are incurred.

(j) Employee benefits

(i) Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leaves, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans, 
including the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme is accrued in the year in which the associated 
services are rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be 
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Defined benefit retirement benefit plan obligations

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit retirement plans is calculated separately for 
each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their 
service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine the present value. The 
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

Service cost and interest expense on the defined benefit liability are recognised in profit or loss and 
allocated by function. Current service cost is measured as the increase in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the current period. When the benefits of 
a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion of the changed benefit related to past 
service by employees, or the gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as an expense in profit or loss at 
the earlier of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and when related restructuring costs or 
termination benefits are recognised. Interest expense for the period is determined by applying the 
discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the reporting period to 
the defined benefit liability. The discount rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on high 
quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Group’s obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement plans comprise actuarial gains and losses 
which are recognised in other comprehensive income and reflected immediately in retained profits.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(k) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of 
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

(l) Taxation

Income tax for the year comprises current tax payable and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year. Taxable income differs from 
“profit before tax” as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are 
permanently	non-taxable	or	non-deductible.	The	Group’s	liability	for	current	tax	is	calculated	using	tax	rates	
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to 
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in 
the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable 
income. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax 
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences and unusual tax losses and tax 
credits to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible 
temporary differences and unusual tax losses and tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are 
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in 
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax 
benefit to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in 
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(l) Taxation – continued

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying 
amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets for investment properties that are 
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be recovered 
entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment 
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all 
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. If the 
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for such investment properties are 
measured in accordance with the above general principles based on the expected manner as to how the 
properties will be recovered. The Group has rebutted the presumption for all its investment properties.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from each 
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets 
against deferred tax liabilities, if the company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions are met:

—	 in	the	case	of	current	tax	assets	and	liabilities,	the	company	or	the	group	intends	either	to	settle	on	a	
net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

—	 in	 the	case	of	deferred	 tax	assets	and	 liabilities,	 if	 they	 relate	 to	 income	 taxes	 levied	by	 the	 same	
taxation authority on either:

—	 the	same	taxable	entity;	or

—	 different	 taxable	entities,	which,	 in	each	 future	period	 in	which	significant	amounts	of	deferred	
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current tax 
assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle simultaneously.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(m) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

(i) Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as derivative financial instruments or loans and receivables. 
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the 
time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instrument.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial assets are recognised initially at fair value. At the end of each reporting period the 
fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss.

Loans and receivables

Loans	and	receivables	are	non-derivative	financial	assets	with	fixed	or	determinable	payments	that	are	
not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including 
debtors, bills receivable, other receivables, bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy in 
respect of impairment loss on financial assets below).
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(m) Financial instruments – continued

(i) Financial assets – continued

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for objective evidence of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one 
or more loss events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future 
cash flows of the financial assets have been adversely affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

—	 significant	financial	difficulty	of	the	issuer	or	counterparty;	or

—	 breach	of	contract,	such	as	default	or	delinquency	in	interest	or	principal	payments;	or

—	 it	becoming	probable	that	the	borrower	will	enter	bankruptcy	or	financial	reorganisation;	or

—	 significant	changes	 in	 the	 technological,	market,	economic	or	 legal	environment	 that	have	an	
adverse effect on the debtor.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as debtors, assets that are assessed not to be impaired 
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of 
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting 
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit 
period of 30 days, and observable changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate with 
default on receivables.

For investments in joint ventures accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated financial 
statements (see note 2(b)), the impairment loss is measured by comparing the recoverable amount of 
the investment with its carrying amount in accordance with note 2(n). The impairment loss is reversed 
if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount in 
accordance with note 2(n).

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets with the exception of debtors, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit 
or loss. When a debtor is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
losses were recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to 
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed 
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(m) Financial instruments – continued

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as 
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a 
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issuance costs.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and 
of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an 
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through 
the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying 
amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (representing creditors) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest method.

(iii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had 
been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is recognised in profit or 
loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(n) Impairment of other assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss based on 
internal and external sources of information:

—	 property,	plant	and	equipment;

—	 pre-paid	interests	in	leasehold	land	classified	as	being	held	under	operating	lease;

—	 prepaid	rental	payments;	and

—	 investments	in	subsidiaries	in	the	Company’s	statement	of	financial	position.

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 
recoverable	 amount	of	 the	 cash-generating	unit	 to	which	 the	 asset	 belongs.	When	a	 reasonable	 and	
consistent	basis	of	 allocation	can	be	 identified,	corporate	assets	are	also	allocated	 to	 individual	cash-
generating	units,	or	otherwise	they	are	allocated	to	the	smallest	group	of	cash-generating	units	for	which	a	
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in 
use,	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	are	discounted	to	their	present	value	using	a	pre-tax	discount	rate	that	
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which 
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If	 the	 recoverable	amount	of	an	asset	 (or	a	cash-generating	unit)	 is	estimated	 to	be	 less	 than	 its	carrying	
amount,	 the	carrying	amount	of	 the	asset	 (or	a	cash-generating	unit)	 is	 reduced	 to	 its	 recoverable	amount.	
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 
revalued amount under another standard, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation 
decrease under that standard.

Where	an	impairment	loss	subsequently	reverses,	the	carrying	amount	of	the	asset	(or	cash-generating	unit)	
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset (or a cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised as income immediately.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(o) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other 
financial	 institutions,	and	 short-term,	highly	 liquid	 investments	 that	are	 readily	convertible	 into	known	
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three 
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of 
the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the 
purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement.

(p) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group or the Company has 
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the 
time value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to 
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of 
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence 
or	non-occurrence	of	one	or	more	 future	events	 are	also	disclosed	as	contingent	 liabilities	unless	 the	
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(q) Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – continued

(q) Related parties – continued

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies: – continued

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 
entity.

(v)	 The	entity	is	a	post-employment	benefit	plan	for	the	benefit	of	employees	of	either	the	Group	or	
an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(r) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the financial statements, are 
identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s 
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the 
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and 
services, the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute 
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments 
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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3 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting 
period of the Group. Of these, the following amendments are relevant to the Group’s financial statement:

—		 Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012–2014 Cycle

—		 Amendments	to	HKAS	1,	Presentation of financial statements: Disclosure initiative

—		 Amendments	to	HKFRS	11,	Joint arrangements: Accounting for acquisitions of interests in joint operations

—		 Amendments	 to	HKAS	16,	Property, plant and equipment and HKAS 38, Intangible assets: Clarification of 
acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation

None of these developments have had a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial position for the 
current or prior periods have been prepared or presented. The Group has not applied any new standard or 
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

4 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the next financial year.

(a) Allowance of inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an assessment of the net realisable value of 
inventories. Allowances are applied to inventories where events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the net realisable value is lower than the cost of inventories or that the inventories have no further use. The 
Group has a concentration of risk with the top five customers domiciled in the United States of America 
(“USA”), Europe and New Zealand comprising 79% (2016: 82%) of the Group’s total revenue. Any further 
adverse changes in the economic environment of the USA, Europe and New Zealand may impact demand 
for the Group’s products and the net realisable value of the inventory. The allowance also depends on 
management’s assessment of the condition and usefulness of the inventories. Where the expectation of the 
net realisable value or use of inventories is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact 
the carrying value of inventories and the allowance of inventories in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. The Group’s carrying amount of inventories as at 30 June 2017 was approximately $150,284,000 
(2016: $135,293,000) net of allowance of inventories of $30,508,000 (2016: $28,246,000).

(b) Allowance for doubtful debts

Allowances are applied to trade debtors where events or changes in circumstances provide objective 
evidence that the balances may not be collectible. The identification of doubtful debts requires the use of 
judgement and estimates with reference to past performance and current events. Any material adverse 
changes in the economic environment, credit conditions and recent repayment history of the Group’s 
customers may impact the recoverability of the trade debtors and have a material effect to the carrying 
amount of trade debtors. Where the actual cash flows are less than expectations, such difference will be 
recognised in the allowance for doubtful debts and as doubtful debts expense.
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4 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY – continued

(c) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

As at 30 June 2017, the aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment is 
$111,622,000 (2016: $96,748,000). Property, plant and equipment are considered for impairment 
individually. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual property, plant and 
equipment,	the	Group	determines	the	recoverable	amount	of	the	cash-generating	unit	(“CGU”)	to	which	the	
property, plant and equipment belong. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and its value in use. The management considers that the recoverable amount of the relevant CGU 
to which the relevant assets belong is determined on the basis of the value in use calculation which is higher 
than its fair value less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the 
future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate. Where the future cash flows 
are less or more than expected, or there are changes in facts and circumstances which result in revisions of 
the estimated future cash flows, further impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss may arise.

(d) Depreciation

The	Group’s	property,	plant	 and	equipment	 are	depreciated	using	 the	 straight-line	method	over	 their	
estimated useful lives as outlined in note 12 of the financial statements.

The Group reviews the useful lives of these assets and their residual values, if any, on an annual basis. Any 
material changes in the estimated useful lives will result in significant changes to depreciation expense to be 
incurred for future periods.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the sale value of goods. The Group manages its business as a single unit and, accordingly, the 
manufacturing and sale of ladies’ intimate apparel is the only reportable segment and virtually all of the revenue 
and operating profits is derived from this business segment. The consolidated financial statements are already 
presented in a manner consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the Company’s 
executive directors, being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resources allocation and 
operating performance review.

The chief operating decision maker regularly assesses available production capacity on a plant by plant basis, 
however, no discrete financial information is available for each plant for the purpose of resources allocation and 
operating performance review. The chief operating decision maker reviews financial information on a 
consolidated basis. Accordingly, no separate business segment information is disclosed.

The accounting policies adopted for the preparation of the financial information reviewed by the executive 
directors are the same as those adopted in preparing the Group’s financial statements. Segment revenue is the 
consolidated revenue of the Group. Segment profit or loss is the consolidated profit or loss after tax.

All the Group’s segment assets and liabilities are under the manufacturing business as at 30 June 2017 and 2016.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION – continued

(a) Other information

(i) Geographical information

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue 
from external customers and (ii) the Group’s property, plant and equipment, prepaid land lease 
payments, investment properties, interest in a joint venture and prepaid rental payments (“specified 
non-current	assets”).	The	geographical	 location	of	customers	 is	based	on	 the	 location	 to	which	 the	
goods are delivered.

Revenue from 
external customers

Specified 
non-current assets

2017 2016 2017 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Hong Kong 15,402 6,767 11,243 22,824
USA 600,972 694,691 – –
Belgium 108,779 102,815 – –
The Netherlands 96,461 48,303 – –
Germany 49,746 36,293 – –
France 44,735 43,541 – –
Spain 35,839 40,808 – –
Mainland China 23,744 15,239 154,578 143,925
New Zealand 23,305 49,543 – –
Canada 18,140 33,896 – –
Thailand 116 2,438 51,956 46,032
Cambodia – – 5,177 5,400
Others 108,769 104,691 – –
     

1,126,008 1,179,025 222,954 218,181
     

(ii) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group from the manufacturing 
operating segment are as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Customer A 564,872 523,463
Customer B 105,567 170,751
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6 FINANCE COSTS

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Interest expense on bank borrowings 181 228
Finance charges on obligations under finance lease 41 5
   

222 233
   

7 PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Profit before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Auditors’ remuneration 1,954 1,852
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 20,582 21,120
Allowance for doubtful debts 4,662 –
Allowance for obsolete inventories (included in cost of sales) 9,160 5,776
Gain arising from reclassification of translation reserve upon loss of 
 control in subsidiaries – (4,260)
Release of prepaid land lease payments 47 48
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (186) (126)
   

Gross rental income from investment properties (3,999) (4,723)
Less: Direct operating expenses from investment properties that 
   generate rental income during the year 37 64
   

(3,962) (4,659)
   

Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases in respect of 
 land and buildings (note a) 16,488 14,085
Increase in fair value of investment properties (3,520) (1,786)
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 911,598 962,648
Net exchange loss 2,578 8,053
Staff costs, including directors’ emoluments (note b) 411,428 405,397
Interest income (546) (1,589)
Fair value gain of derivative financial instrument (674) (3,639)
   

Notes:

(a) Included in the amount are operating lease rentals of $1,298,000 (2016: $1,223,000) in respect of staff quarters.

(b) Details of directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are disclosed in note 8. Staff costs included amounts in respect of defined 
contribution retirement benefit schemes contributions of $23,779,000 (2016: $24,112,000) and reversal of provision for long service 
payments of $167,000 (2016: $73,000).
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8 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors

Details	of	emoluments	paid	or	payable	by	 the	Group	 to	 the	Directors	 (including	Non-executive	Directors)	
disclosed pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies 
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Fees	to	Non-executive	Directors 1,600 1,600
Remuneration to Executive Directors:
—	Salaries	and	other	benefits 8,412 8,412
—	Retirement	benefit	scheme	contributions 54 54
   

Total Directors’ emoluments 10,066 10,066
   

For the year ended 30 June 2017
 

Fees

Salaries 
and other 

benefits

Retirement 
benefit 
scheme 

contributions Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Wong Chung Chong, Eddie – 3,412 18 3,430
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth – 2,500 18 2,518
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin – 2,500 18 2,518
Fung Wai Yiu 200 – – 200
Lucas A.M. Laureys 200 – – 200
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 200 – – 200
Herman Van de Velde 200 – – 200
Marvin Bienenfeld 200 – – 200
Chow Yu Chun, Alexander 200 – – 200
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 200 – – 200
Lin Sun Mo, Willy 200 – – 200
     

1,600 8,412 54 10,066
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8 DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS – continued

(a) Directors – continued

For the year ended 30 June 2016
 

Fees

Salaries 
and other 

benefits

Retirement 
benefit 

scheme 
contributions Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Wong Chung Chong, Eddie – 3,412 18 3,430
Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth – 2,500 18 2,518
Wong Kai Chung, Kevin – 2,500 18 2,518
Fung Wai Yiu 200 – – 200
Lucas A.M. Laureys 200 – – 200
Leung Churk Yin, Jeanny 200 – – 200
Herman Van de Velde 200 – – 200
Marvin Bienenfeld 200 – – 200
Chow Yu Chun, Alexander 200 – – 200
Leung Ying Wah, Lambert 200 – – 200
Lin Sun Mo, Willy 200 – – 200
     

1,600 8,412 54 10,066
     

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during either year.

(b) Employees

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, three (2016: three) were Directors of the 
Company whose emoluments are included in the disclosure above. The emoluments of the remaining two 
(2016: two) individuals were as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Salaries and other benefits 3,951 4,486
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 36 21
   

3,987 4,507
   

The emoluments were within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2017 2016

$1,500,001–$2,000,000 1 –
$2,000,001–$2,500,000 1 2
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9 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Current tax:

Hong Kong 1,572 5,954
Other jurisdictions 979 478
   

2,551 6,432
   

Over-provision in prior years:

Hong Kong (490) (234)
   

Deferred taxation (note 23)

Current year 412 (538)
   

2,473 5,660
   

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and 
Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. The tax 
expense for the year is reconciled to the profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as 
follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Profit before tax 8,451 39,944
   

Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% 1,394 6,591
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 428 1,772
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (2,254) (2,311)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 3,861 1,781
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised (3,565) (1,912)
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised 3,463 (87)
Over-provision	in	prior	years (490) (234)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in 
 other jurisdictions (364) 60
   

Income tax expense for the year 2,473 5,660
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10 DIVIDENDS

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:

2016 final dividend of $0.05 per share 
 (2016: 2015 final dividend of $0.05 per share) 10,752 10,752
2017 interim dividend of $0.05 per share 
 (2016: 2016 interim dividend of $0.05 per share) 10,752 10,752
   

21,504 21,504
   

Dividends proposed after the end of the reporting period:

2017 special dividend of $0.05 per share 
 (2016: 2016 final dividend of $0.05 per share) 10,752 10,752
   

Special dividend proposed by the directors are subject to approval by the shareholders in the annual general 
meeting. No final dividend has been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2016: final dividend of $0.05 
per share).

11 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following 
data:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the purpose of 
 computing basic earnings per share 5,397 32,298
   

Number of shares
2017 2016

Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
 computing basic earnings per share 215,037,625 215,037,625
   

No diluted earnings per share has been presented because there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares 
outstanding for both years.
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold 
land

Land and 
buildings

Leasehold 
improvements

Furniture, 
fixtures and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cost:

At 1 July 2015 5,064 96,851 76,414 305,924 11,124 – 495,377
Currency realignment (195) (1,370) (663) (3,759) (86) – (6,073)
Additions – 153 1,194 9,616 1,039 1,950 13,952
Disposals/write-off – – (303) (1,717) (1,126) – (3,146)
De-recognised	due	to	loss	of	
 control in subsidiaries – (14,981) (1,366) (22,283) – – (38,630)
        

At 30 June 2016 4,869 80,653 75,276 287,781 10,951 1,950 461,480
        

At 1 July 2016 4,869 80,653 75,276 287,781 10,951 1,950 461,480
Currency realignment 198 823 238 1,468 28 – 2,755
Additions – 400 11,205 21,443 1,020 21 34,089
Disposals/write-off – (2,512) (6,112) (6,997) (1,385) – (17,006)
Reclassification – – 1,939 11 – (1,950) –
        

At 30 June 2017 5,067 79,364 82,546 303,706 10,614 21 481,318
        

Depreciation and impairment:

At 1 July 2015 – 47,654 66,499 254,355 9,083 – 377,591
Currency realignment – (409) (568) (2,756) (86) – (3,819)
Charge for the year – 4,214 4,298 11,595 1,013 – 21,120
Eliminated	on	disposals/write-off – – (256) (1,713) (1,126) – (3,095)
De-recognised	due	to	loss	of	
 control in subsidiaries – (6,279) (791) (19,995) – – (27,065)
        

At 30 June 2016 – 45,180 69,182 241,486 8,884 – 364,732
        

At 1 July 2016 – 45,180 69,182 241,486 8,884 – 364,732
Currency realignment – 149 211 923 7 – 1,290
Charge for the year – 3,922 4,441 11,159 1,060 – 20,582
Eliminated	on	disposals/write-off – (2,512) (6,073) (6,938) (1,385) – (16,908)
        

At 30 June 2017 – 46,739 67,761 246,630 8,566 – 369,696
        

Net book value:

At 30 June 2017 5,067 32,625 14,785 57,076 2,048 21 111,622
        

At 30 June 2016 4,869 35,473 6,094 46,295 2,067 1,950 96,748
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – continued

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for freehold land and construction in progress, are 
depreciated	on	a	straight-line	basis	at	the	following	rates	per	annum:

—	 Land	and	buildings	 Over	the	shorter	of	the	term	of	the	lease,	or	2%–6.5%

—	 Leasehold	improvements	 Over	the	shorter	of	the	term	of	the	lease,	or	20%

—	 Furniture,	fixtures	and	equipment	 10%–33%

—	 Motor	vehicles	 20%–30%

Note:

(a) The carrying value of the land and buildings shown above comprises:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Land and buildings outside Hong Kong:
—	Long-term	lease 3,033 3,156
—	Medium-term	lease 29,586 32,311
Land	and	buildings	in	Hong	Kong	under	medium-term	lease 6 6
Freehold land outside Hong Kong 5,067 4,869
   

37,692 40,342
   

13 PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Leasehold	land	is	depreciated	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	terms	of	the	leases.

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Current asset 48 48
Non-current	asset 1,480 1,527
   

1,528 1,575
   

The Group’s prepaid land lease payments comprise:

Leasehold land outside Hong Kong:
—	Medium-term	lease 1,528 1,575
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Fair value

At beginning of the year 100,991 104,725
Currency realignment (1,331) (5,520)
Change in fair value of investment properties 3,520 1,786
Disposal (19,000) –
   

At end of the year 84,180 100,991
   

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 30 June 2017 and 2016 have been arrived at on the basis of 
valuations carried out on the respective dates by BMI Appraisals Limited, an independent qualified professional 
valuer not connected with the Group. The valuation was arrived at using the investment approach by taking into 
account the current passing rents of the properties being held under existing tenancies and the reversionary 
potential of the tenancies if they have been or would be let to tenant.

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 
purposes are measured using the fair value model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

On 23 December 2016, the Group entered into a sale and purchases agreement to dispose of an investment 
property in Hong Kong to a third party at a cash consideration of $19,000,000. The transaction was completed on 
21 February 2017. Upon disposal of the property in February 2017, the asset revaluation reserve balance of 
$15,250,000 was transferred to retained earnings.

Investment properties shown above amounted to $84,180,000 (2016: $82,291,000) are situated on land outside of 
Hong Kong on medium term lease. Investment properties amounted to $Nil (2016: $18,700,000) are situated in 
Hong Kong on medium term lease.
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES – continued

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s properties measured at the end of the reporting period 
on	a	 recurring	basis,	categorised	 into	 the	 three-level	 fair	value	hierarchy	as	defined	 in	HKFRS	13,	Fair	value	
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference to the 
observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—	 Level	1	valuations:	Fair	value	measured	using	only	Level	1	 inputs	 i.e.	unadjusted	quoted	prices	 in	active	
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—	 Level	2	valuations:	Fair	value	measured	using	Level	2	inputs	i.e.	observable	inputs	which	fail	to	meet	Level	1,	
and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data are not 
available

—	 Level	3	valuations:	Fair	value	measured	using	significant	unobservable	inputs

Fair value at 
30 June 

2017

Fair value measurements as at 
30 June 2017 categorised into

 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Recurring fair value measurement

Investment properties:
—	Industrial	—	PRC 72,450 – – 72,450
—	Residential	—	PRC 11,730 – – 11,730
     

Fair value at 
30 June 

2016

Fair value measurements as at 
30 June 2016 categorised into

 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Recurring fair value measurement

Investment properties:
—	Industrial	—	PRC 71,069 – – 71,069
—	Residential	—	PRC 11,222 – – 11,222
—	Industrial	—	HK 18,700 – – 18,700
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES – continued

Fair value hierarchy – continued

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Unobservable input – 
Capitalisation rate

Unobservable input – 
Reversionary potential monthly rent

  

Range
Weighted 

average Range
Weighted 

average

Investment properties 
 as at 30 June 2017

—	Industrial	—	PRC 2.5% to 3.0% 2.95% RMB71.0 to RMB72.01 RMB71.61

—	Residential	—	PRC 3.2% to 3.5% 3.48% RMB75.0 to RMB79.01 RMB76.51

Investment properties 
 as at 30 June 2016

—	Industrial	—	PRC 2.2% to 2.7% 2.5% RMB65.0 to RMB66.01 RMB65.61

—	Residential	—	PRC 2.2% to 2.7% 2.5% RMB67.0 to RMB69.01 RMB67.71

—	Industrial	—	Hong	Kong 3.6% to 4.1% 3.9% N/A $11.82

1 per square meter

2 per square foot

The fair value of investment properties is determined by discounting a projected rental income series associated 
with	 the	properties	using	 risk-adjusted	capitalisation	 rates.	The	valuation	 takes	 into	account	 the	current	passing	
rents and the reversionary potentials and expected occupancy rate of the respective properties. The capitalisation 
rates used have been adjusted for the quality and location of the buildings and the tenant credit quality. The fair 
value	measurement	is	positively	correlated	to	the	reversionary	potential	rent	and	negatively	correlated	to	the	risk-
adjusted capitalisation rate.
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14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES – continued

Fair value hierarchy – continued

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements – continued

The movements during the year in the balance of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as follows:

Investment 
properties — 
industrial — 

PRC

Investment 
properties — 
residential — 

PRC

Investment 
properties — 
industrial — 
Hong Kong Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2015 74,913 11,612 18,200 104,725
Fair value adjustment 935 351 500 1,786
Currency realignment (4,779) (741) – (5,520)
     

At 30 June 2016 71,069 11,222 18,700 100,991
     

At 1 July 2016 71,069 11,222 18,700 100,991
Fair value adjustment 2,530 690 300 3,520
Currency realignment (1,149) (182) – (1,331)
Disposal – – (19,000) (19,000)
     

At 30 June 2017 72,450 11,730 – 84,180
     

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in the line item “other income” on the face of the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. All the gains recognised in profit or loss for both years arises from the 
properties held at the end of the reporting period and the property sold during the year.
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15 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Details of the Group’s interest in the joint venture, which is accounted for using the equity method in the 
consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

Name of joint venture

Place of 
incorporation 
and business

Particulars of issued and
paid up capital

Effective 
percentage 

of equity 
interest held Principal activity

Charming Elastic Fabric 
 Company Limited 
 (“Charming”)

Hong Kong Ordinary	—	$18,189,381	
Deferred	—	$810,000

60% Manufacture of 
 elastic garment 
 straps

The Group has entered into a shareholders’ agreement (the “Shareholders’ Agreement”) with New Horizon 
International	 Investments	Limited	 (“New	Horizon”),	 a	wholly-owned	 subsidiary	of	Best	Pacific	 International	
Holdings Limited, immediately after completion of the acquisition of 40% of the issued ordinary shares of 
Charming by New Horizon from an independent third party on 4 November 2015.

Under the Shareholders’ Agreement, the substantive operating and financing decisions related to Charming are 
under the joint control by the Group and New Horizon. As a result, although the Group’s shareholding in 
Charming remains unchanged at 60%, the Group accounted for its interest in Charming as a joint venture.

According to the Shareholders’ Agreement, should Charming together with its subsidiary (“Charming Group”) be 
able	to	achieve	certain	pre-agreed	performance	targets	by	30	June	2017	or	by	31	December	2018,	New	Horizon	
shall have the right to subscribe for new ordinary shares in Charming such that New Horizon may eventually hold 
up to 51% of the then entire issued ordinary shares of Charming. Further, should New Horizon eventually hold 
51% of the then entire issued ordinary shares of Charming, the Group shall have the right to dispose of part or all 
of its interest in Charming to New Horizon up to 30 June 2022.

Based	on	 the	 financial	 results	of	Charming	Group	as	of	30	 June	2017,	 the	pre-agreed	performance	 targets	 for	
Charming were met. New Horizon, subject to the completion of certain subscription paperwork as required under 
the Shareholders’ Agreement, will be eligible to subscribe for new ordinary shares in Charming and become the 
51% shareholder of Charming. As of 30 June 2017, since certain paperwork for subscription has not yet been 
completed, there is no change in the Group’s shareholding in Charming as at 30 June 2017.

There had been no changes to the terms of the shareholders’ agreement during the year ended 30 June 2017.
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15 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE – continued

Charming, the only joint venture in which the Group participates, is an unlisted corporate entity whose quoted 
market price is not available. Details of net assets deemed to be disposed of on 4 November 2015 due to the loss 
of control in Charming were as follows:

2016
$’000

Property, plant and equipment 11,565
Inventories 5,998
Debtors and other receivables 2,906
Amount due from immediate holding company 1,954
Bank balances and cash 7,609
Creditors and accrued charges (8,408)
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (31)
Retirement benefit obligations (1)
  

21,592
Less:	Non-controlling	interests (8,637)
  

Net assets deemed to be disposed of 12,955
Less: Interest in a joint venture recognised (12,955)
  

Gain on loss of control in subsidiaries before reclassification of translation reserve –
Reclassification of translation reserve 4,260
  

Gain on loss of control in subsidiaries 4,260
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15 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE – continued

Summarised financial information of Charming Group, adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and a 
reconciliation to the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Gross amounts of Charming Group’s

Current assets 33,833 33,006
Non-current	assets 23,832 19,353
Current liabilities (16,438) (23,059)
Equity (41,227) (29,300)

Included in the above assets and liabilities:
Cash and cash equivalents 11,577 5,812
Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and 
 other payables and provisions) (4,659) (12,499)

Revenue 86,292 52,745
Profit from continuing operations after tax 12,327 8,423
Other comprehensive income (399) (716)
Total comprehensive income 11,928 7,707

Included in the above profit:
Depreciation and amortisation 2,562 1,089
Interest income 44 22
Interest expense 70 60

Reconciled to the group’s interest in Charming Group

Gross amounts of Charming Group’s net assets 41,227 29,300
Group’s effective interest 60% 60%
Group’s share of Charming Group’s net assets 24,736 17,580
   

16 PREPAID RENTAL PAYMENTS

At 30 June 2017 and 2016, prepaid rental payments represented the prepaid rent for factories in Thailand for 
fifteen years until June 2024. The current portion of $388,000 (2016: $481,000) is included in debtors and other 
receivables.
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17 INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Raw materials 51,360 45,915
Work in progress 48,633 42,020
Finished goods 50,291 47,358
   

150,284 135,293
   

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included in profit 
or loss is as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Carrying amount of inventories sold 911,598 962,648
Allowance for obsolete inventories 9,160 5,776
   

920,758 968,424
   

18 DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Trade debtors 190,639 171,272
Less: allowance for doubtful debts (4,662) –
   

185,977 171,272
Other receivables 23,717 20,973
   

209,694 192,245
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18 DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES – continued

(a) Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade debtors (which are included in debtors and 
other receivables) net of allowance for doubtful debts, based on the invoice date is as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

1 – 90 days 162,695 162,298
91 – 180 days 23,282 8,974
   

185,977 171,272
   

(b) Impairment of trade debtors

Impairment losses in respect of trade debtors are recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is 
satisfied that recovery of the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off against trade 
debtors directly. Certain trade debtor was in financial difficulties and individually determined to be 
impaired. The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year is as follows:

2017
$’000

At 1 July –
Impairment loss recognised 4,662
  

At 30 June 4,662
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18 DEBTORS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES – continued

(c) Trade debtors that are not impaired

The Group allows an average credit period of 45 days (2016: 45 days) to its trade customers. Before 
accepting any new customers, the Group will assess the potential customer’s credit quality. The management 
of the Company assesses the credit quality of the trade debtors based on payment due date. An ageing 
analysis of trade debtors based on the payment due date, at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Neither past due nor impaired 166,432 158,401
   

1 – 30 days past due 7,496 6,929
31 – 60 days past due 56 5,014
Over 60 days past due 394 928
   

7,946 12,871
   

174,378 171,272
   

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a wide range of customers for whom there was 
no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have a 
good track record with the group. Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment 
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit 
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.

19 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(a) Bank balances and cash

Bank	balances	and	cash	comprise	cash	held	by	 the	Group	and	short-term	bank	deposits	with	an	original	
maturity of three months or less. The bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0.001% 
to 1.75% (2016: 0.001% to 9.75%) per annum.

(b) Derivative financial instrument

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement mentioned in note 15, subject to and conditional upon New 
Horizon becoming a majority shareholder of Charming, the Group is entitled the right to exercise its option 
(“the Exit Option”) to require New Horizon to buy out all or part of the issued shares of Charming held by 
the Group at any time during the period of two years from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2022 at a price set out in 
the Shareholders’ Agreement. The Exit Option is recognised as a derivative financial instrument at fair value 
through profit or loss. The gain on fair value change of such Exit Option of $674,000 for the year (2016: 
$3,639,000) is recognised in profit or loss.
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20 CREDITORS AND ACCRUED CHARGES

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Trade creditors 76,467 65,527
Other creditors and accrued charges 62,833 51,933
   

139,300 117,460
   

An ageing analysis of trade creditors based on the payment due date at the end of the reporting period is as 
follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Current 72,064 52,282
1 – 30 days past due 3,253 11,576
31 – 60 days past due 467 1,492
Over 60 days past due 683 177
   

76,467 65,527
   

As the average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days, a majority of the balances which as disclosed 
above are within 90 days from the invoice date. The Group has financial risk management policies in place to 
ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

Other creditors and accrued charges mainly represented accrued freight charges, salaries and other operating 
expenses.
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21 OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

At 30 June 2017, the Group had obligations under finance leases repayable as follows:

2017
Present value of 

the minimum 
lease payments

Total minimum 
lease payments

$’000 $’000

Within 1 year 145 154
   

After 1 year but within 2 years 145 154
After 2 years but within 5 years 60 63
   

205 217
   

350 371
   

Less: total future interest expenses 21
   

Present value of lease obligations 350
   

2016
Present value of 

the minimum 
lease payments

Total minimum 
lease payments

$’000 $’000

Within 1 year 139 147
   

After 1 year but within 2 years 139 147
After 2 years but within 5 years 199 211
   

338 358
   

477 505
   

Less: total future interest expenses 28
   

Present value of lease obligations 477
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22 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(a) Provision for long service payments

Under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the Group is required to make long service payments to its 
employees in Hong Kong upon the termination of their employment or retirement when the employees fulfill 
certain conditions and the termination meets the required circumstances. However, where an employee is 
simultaneously entitled to a long service payment and to a retirement scheme payment (e.g. from the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)), the amount of the long service payment will be 
reduced by the benefits arising from the retirement scheme including investment return/(loss) accumulated 
in the scheme.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of the Group’s obligation for long service payments 
was carried out at 30 June 2017 by AON Hewitt, an independent firm of human resource consultants and 
actuaries. The present value of the Group’s obligation for long service payments, the related current service 
cost and actuarial gain/loss were measured using the projected unit credit method.

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations were as follows:

2017 2016

Discount rate 1.4% per annum 1.3% per annum
Expected rate of salary increases 3% per annum 3% per annum
Long-term	rate	of	return	on	contributions 5% per annum 5% per annum

The below analysis shows how the defined benefit obligation as at 30 June 2017 would have increased/
(decreased) as a result of a 1% change in the significant actuarial assumptions:

2017 2016
Increase 

in 1%
Decrease 

in 1%
Increase 

in 1%
Decrease 

in 1%
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Discount rate (92) 106 (104) 121
Future salary increases 179 (123) 154 (117)
     

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that changes in actuarial assumptions are not 
correlated and therefore it does not take into account the correlations between the actuarial assumptions.
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22 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES – continued

(a) Provision for long service payments – continued

Amounts recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income in respect of these long service 
payments are as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Current service cost (182) (94)
Interest cost 15 21
   

Amount credited for the year 
 (included in staff costs under general and 
 administrative expenses) (167) (73)
   

Actuarial losses 172 64
   

Amounts debited for the year 
 (included in other comprehensive income) 172 64
   

Total defined benefit credits 5 (9)
   

Movements in the present value of the long service payments in the current and prior years are as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

At beginning of the year 1,253 1,460
Current service cost (182) (94)
Interest cost 15 21
Actuarial losses 172 64
Benefits paid (319) (198)
   

At end of the year 939 1,253
   

A portion of the above liability is expected to be settled after more than one year. However, it is not 
practicable to segregate this amount from the amounts payable in the next twelve months, as future 
contributions will also relate to future services rendered and future changes in actuarial assumptions and 
market conditions.
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22 RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES – continued

(b) Defined contribution schemes

The Group has joined the MPF Scheme for all employees in Hong Kong who have registered with the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The 
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of an 
independent trustee. Under the rules of the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required 
to make contributions to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only obligation of the Group in 
respect of the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions under the MPF Scheme. No forfeited 
contributions are available to reduce the contributions payable in the future years.

The eligible employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of pension schemes operated 
by the PRC local governments. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of the 
relevant part of the payroll of these employees to the pension schemes to fund the benefits. The assets of the 
schemes are held separately from those of the Group in funds under the control of the Chinese local 
government.

The total cost charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss of $23,779,000 (2016: $24,112,000) 
represents contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of the current year.

23 DEFERRED TAXATION

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting purposes:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Deferred tax liabilities 20,999 23,436
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23 DEFERRED TAXATION – continued

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) recognised and movements thereon during the current 
and prior years:

Depreciation 
in excess of 
the related 

depreciation 
allowance

Revaluation 
of properties

Unrealised 
loss on 

inventories Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2015 (409) 24,252 1,510 25,353
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss 98 404 (1,040) (538)
Currency realignment – (1,379) – (1,379)
     

At 30 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 (311) 23,277 470 23,436
Credited to equity – (2,516) – (2,516)
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss 381 293 (262) 412
Currency realignment – (333) – (333)
     

At 30 June 2017 70 20,721 208 20,999
     

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of $86,480,000 (2016: $95,875,000) available 
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due 
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. During the year, tax losses of $10,812,000 (2016: $3,559,000) 
expired and were no longer available to offset against future profits. Included in unrecognised tax losses of the 
Group are losses of $19,993,000 (2016: $40,125,000), $118,000 (2016: $8,005,000), $23,264,000 (2016: 
$18,293,000) and $43,105,000 (2016: $29,452,000) attributable to subsidiaries in the PRC, Thailand, Cambodia 
and Hong Kong respectively. Tax losses in certain tax jurisdictions of $43,375,000 (2016: $66,423,000) will 
gradually expire up to 2022. The remaining balance of tax losses has no expiry date under the current tax 
legislation.

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed 
earnings of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was $26,099,000 (2016: 
$18,976,000). No liabilities have been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a 
position to control the timing of reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that such differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

107Top Form International Limited Annual Report 2017

24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Financial assets

Derivative	financial	instrument	—	Fair	value	through	profit	or	loss 4,313 3,639
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents) 328,244 345,109
   

332,557 348,748
   

Financial liabilities

Creditors	and	other	payables	—	Amortised	cost 83,921 71,150
   

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include derivative financial instrument, debtors, bills receivable, 
other receivables, creditors and bank balances. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in 
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. 
The management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented 
on a timely and effective manner.

(i) Market risk

There has been no significant change to the Group’s exposure to market risk or the manner in which it 
manages and measures the risk.

(1) Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency sales and purchases, which expose 
the Group to foreign currency risk. Approximately 14% (2016: 17%) of the Group’s sales are 
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the group entity making the sale, 
while almost 78% (2016: 80%) of purchase costs are not denominated in the group entity’s 
functional currency. The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, 
management monitors the foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant 
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

(i) Market risk – continued

(1) Currency risk – continued

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and 
monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2017 2016 2017 2016

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Euro (“EUR”) 3,808 2,410 – 64
Renminbi (“RMB”) 21,179 53,544 2,176 1,877
USD 34,577 43,743 – 2
HK$ 5,553 5,747 48,329 47,033
     

The above assets and liabilities include outstanding EUR, RMB, USD and HK$ debtors and 
creditors and bank balances and cash. In addition, the Group is exposed to currency risk arising 
from	inter-	company	receivables	and	payables	denominated	 in	Thai	Baht	 (“THB”)	which	 is	not	
the	 functional	currency	of	either	 the	 lender	or	 the	borrower.	The	net	 inter-company	payables	
amounted to $32,913,000 (2016: $54,155,000) as at 30 June 2017.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuations in exchange rates of EUR, RMB, USD and HK$. For 
fluctuations of USD against HK$, there will be no significant impact as HK$ is pegged with USD.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2016: 5%) increase and decrease in 
functional currency against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2016: 5%) is the sensitivity rate 
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in the foreign exchange rates. The 
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and 
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% (2016: 5%) change in foreign 
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external receivables and payables and also 
current accounts with the group entities where the denomination of the current accounts is in a 
currency other than the functional currency of the relevant group entities. A positive number 
below	indicates	an	 increase	 in	post-tax	profit	or	a	decrease	 in	post-tax	 loss	 for	 the	year	where	
functional currencies of relevant group entities strengthens 5% (2016: 5%) against the relevant 
foreign currencies. For a 5% (2016: 5%) weakening of functional currencies against the relevant 
foreign currencies, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit for the year.
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

(i) Market risk – continued

(1) Currency risk – continued

Sensitivity analysis – continued

2017 2016
Change in 

post-tax profit 
and retained 

profits

Change in 
post-tax	profit	

and retained 
profits

$’000 $’000

EUR (159) (98)
RMB (578) (1,126)
THB 1,374 2,261
   

(2) Interest rate risk

As at 30 June 2017 and 2016, the Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to 
variable-rate	bank	balances.

Sensitivity analysis

As at 30 June 2017 and 2016, the management expects interest rate risk will not have a material 
impact on the Group’s operating result. Hence, a sensitivity analysis is not presented.

(ii) Credit risk

As at 30 June 2017 and 2016, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a 
financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising 
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination	of	credit	limits,	credit	approvals	and	other	monitoring	procedures	to	ensure	that	follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of 
each individual trade debt at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses 
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors of the Company consider that the 
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The bank balances and deposits are concentrated on certain counterparties and the credit risk on liquid 
funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

In respect of debtors, the Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the market demand in 
the intimate apparel industry and economic conditions in the USA, Europe and New Zealand. At the 
end of the reporting period, the Group had a certain concentration risk as approximately 80% (2016: 
93%) of trade debtors was due from the top five major customers.
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies – continued

(iii) Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The	following	table	details	the	Group’s	remaining	contractual	maturity	for	its	non-derivative	financial	
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities 
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. At 30 June 2017, the Group had 
undrawn bank borrowing facilities of $148,850,000 (2016: $148,850,000).

Liquidity tables

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

On demand 
or less than 

1 month
1 to 3 

months
Over 3 
months

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount at 

30 June
% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2017

Non-derivative 
 financial liabilities

Creditors and  
 other payables 
	 —	Amortised	cost – 83,022 865 34 83,921 83,921
       

2016

Non-derivative 
 financial liabilities

Creditors and  
 other payables 
	 —	Amortised	cost – 58,672 12,398 80 71,150 71,150
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(c) Fair value

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The fair value of the Group’s financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a 
recurring	basis,	categorised	into	the	three-level	fair	value	hierarchy	as	defined	in	HKFRS	13,	Fair	value	
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is determined with reference 
to the observability and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

—		 Level	1	valuations:	Fair	value	measured	using	only	Level	1	inputs	i.e.	unadjusted	quoted	prices	in	
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

—		 Level	2	valuations:	Fair	value	measured	using	Level	2	inputs	i.e.	observable	inputs	which	fail	to	
meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for 
which market data are not available

—		 Level	3	valuations:	Fair	value	measured	using	significant	unobservable	inputs

Valuation of instruments classified as a Level 3 instrument of the fair value hierarchy is performed by 
an external qualified appraiser. A valuation report with analysis of changes in fair value measurement 
is prepared by the appraiser at each interim and annual reporting date, and is reviewed and approved 
by the management.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement mentioned in note 15, subject to and conditional upon New 
Horizon becoming a majority shareholder of Charming, the group shall have the right to dispose of 
part or all of its interest in Charming to New Horizon up to 30 June 2022. The right is recognised as a 
derivative financial instrument at fair value through profit or loss. The Group’s derivative financial 
instrument is categorised as a Level 3 valuation.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation 
techniques

Significant 
unobservable inputs Range

Weighted 
average

Derivative financial 
 instrument

Monte Carlo model Discount for lack of 
 marketability

30% to 33.7% 30%

Weighted average cost 
 of capital (“WACC”)

N/A 16%

Expected volatility N/A 38.75%
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – continued

(c) Fair value – continued

(i) Financial assets measured at fair value – continued

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements – continued

The	fair	value	of	the	derivative	financial	instrument	is	determined	in	the	following	two-step	process	by	
the Group’s external appraiser: (1) the enterprise value of Charming is firstly determined using the 
discounted cash flows model adjusted for lack of marketability discount and weighted average cost of 
capital; then, (2) the fair value of the Exit Option is estimated using the Monte Carlo simulation based 
on the enterprise value determined in (1) and adjusted for expected volatility, which in turn is 
estimated based on daily stock prices of comparable companies within the industry. The fair value 
measurement of the derivative financial instrument as a whole is negatively correlated with the WACC, 
while the fair value of the derivative financial instrument is positively correlated with the discount for 
lack of market ability and the expected volatility inputs.

As at 30 June 2017, it is estimated that with all other variables held constant, a decrease/increase in:

—	 Discount	for	lack	of	marketability	by	5%	would	have	decreased/increased	the	Group’s	profit	after	
tax and total comprehensive income by $1,208,000/$1,665,000;

—	 Weighted	Average	Cost	of	Capital	by	3%	would	have	increased/decreased	the	Group’s	profit	after	
tax and total comprehensive income by $1,093,000/$703,000; and

—	 Expected	volatility	by	10%	would	have	decreased/increased	the	Group’s	profit	after	tax	and	total	
comprehensive income by $901,000/$925,000.

The movements during the period in the balance of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as 
follows:

2016
$’000

Derivative financial instrument:

At 1 July 2015 –
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss during the year 3,639
  

At 30 June 2016 3,639
  

At 1 July 2016 3,639
Changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss during the year 674
  

At 30 June 2017 4,313
  

(ii) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or amortised cost are not 
materially different from their fair values as at 30 June 2017 and 30 June 2016.
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25 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Authorised and issued share capital

2017 2016
No. of shares Amount No. of shares Amount

$’000 $’000

Ordinary shares of $0.50 
 (2016: $0.50) each

Authorised:

At beginning of the year and 
 the end of the year 300,000,000 150,000 300,000,000 150,000
     

Issued and fully paid:

At beginning of the year and 
 the end of the year 215,037,625 107,519 215,037,625 107,519
     

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to 
the Company’s residual assets.

(b) Movement in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated 
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s 
individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Capital 
redemption 

reserve
Contributed 

surplus
Retained 

profits Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 July 2015 107,519 1,499 233 124,802 187,952 422,005

Profit and total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – – 619 619
Dividends approved in respect of 
 the previous year – – – – (10,752) (10,752)
Dividends declared in respect of 
 the current year – – – – (10,752) (10,752)
       

At 30 June 2016 and 1 July 2016 107,519 1,499 233 124,802 167,067 401,120

Profit and total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – – 678 678
Dividends approved in respect of 
 the previous year (note 10) – – – – (10,752) (10,752)
Dividends declared in respect of 
 the current year (note 10) – – – – (10,752) (10,752)
       

At 30 June 2017 107,519 1,499 233 124,802 146,241 380,294
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25 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES – continued

(c) Distributability of reserves

At 30 June 2017, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity shareholders of the 
Company was $271,043,000 (2016: $291,869,000).

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 3 November 2011 (the “Adoption Date”), a new share option scheme (the 
“Scheme”) of the Company was adopted for the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to the 
Directors, employees or any other persons at the discretion of the Board, and the Scheme will end on 2 November 
2021. Under the Scheme, the Board may grant options to eligible employees, including directors, executives or 
officers of the Company and its subsidiaries and any other persons at the discretion of the Board to subscribe for 
shares in the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to 
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on the Adoption Date, being 107,518,812 shares. Following 
the share consolidation (on the basis of every five issued and unissued shares of $0.10 each consolidated into one 
share of $0.50 each in the capital of the Company) which became effective on 23 May 2014, the total number of 
shares which may be issued on exercise of the options which may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 
21,503,762 shares. The number of shares in respect of which options may be granted to any individual in any 
12-month	period	is	not	permitted	to	exceed	1%	of	the	shares	of	the	Company	in	issue	at	any	point	in	time,	without	
prior	approval	from	the	Company’s	shareholders.	Options	granted	to	substantial	shareholders	or	independent	non-
executive	directors	 in	any	12-month	period	in	excess	of	0.1%	of	 the	Company’s	 issued	share	capital	and	with	a	
value in excess of $5 million on the date of offer must be approved in advance by the Company’s independent 
shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 14 days of the date of offer, upon payment of $1 per grant. Options may 
generally be exercised at any time from the second anniversary of the date of acceptance to the tenth anniversary 
of the date of acceptance or may at the Board’s discretion determine the specific exercise period. The exercise 
price is determined by the Board, and will not be less than the highest of the closing price of the Company’s 
shares on the date of offer and the average closing price of the shares for the five business days immediately 
preceding the date of offer and the nominal value of the Company’s shares.

During the years ended 30 June 2017 and 2016, no share options of the Company were held by the Directors or 
anyone else under the Scheme, and no share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 
Scheme.
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27 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(a) The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable	operating	leases	in	respect	of	land	and	buildings,	which	fall	due	as	follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Within one year 15,837 11,418
In the second to fifth year inclusive 26,611 19,600
Over five years 1,911 2,475
   

44,359 33,493
   

Leases are negotiated for lease term of one to fifteen years and rentals are fixed over the terms of the relevant 
leases.

(b) The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was $3,999,000 (2016: $4,723,000). All of the properties 
held have committed tenants for the next 1 to 5 years.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants with the following future minimum 
lease payments:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Within one year 3,458 4,128
In the second to fifth year inclusive 2,578 5,317
   

6,036 9,445
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28 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of property, 
 plant and equipment contracted for but not provided for 
 in the consolidated financial statements – 2,916
   

29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group has 
entered into the following material related party transactions:

(a) Transactions with related companies

2017 2016
Note $’000 $’000

Sales of goods to a related party (i) 105,567 99,534
Purchase of materials from a joint venture – 3,781
    

(i) During the year, the Group processed supplied materials and delivered the finished products to a related company, Van de Velde N.V. 
(“VdV”) for revenue of approximately $105,567,000 (2016: $99,534,000).

Mr.	Herman	Van	de	Velde,	a	non-executive	director	of	 the	Company,	has	a	beneficial	 interest	 in	VdV,	which	held	an	effective	
interest of 25.66% (2016: 25.66%) in the Company as at 30 June 2017.

As at 30 June 2017, the balance of trade receivables from VdV amounted to $4,796,000 (2016: $4,718,000) which are aged less 
than 30 days.

The above related party transactions constitute continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. 
The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules are provided in the Directors’ Report.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management during the year is as follows:

2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Salaries and other benefits 16,631 17,266
Retirement benefits scheme contributions 126 111
   

16,757 17,377
   

The remuneration of Directors and key management is determined by the Group’s compensation committee 
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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30 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s 
overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued 
share capital, reserves and retained profits.

The Directors of the Company review the capital structure on a quarterly basis. As part of this review, the 
Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on 
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of 
dividends,	new	share	issues	and	share	buy-backs	as	well	as	the	issue	of	debt.

31 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2017 are as follows:

Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Issued share capital/ 
registered capital

Proportion of 
issued ordinary 

share capital/ 
registered capital held 

directly/ indirectly 
by the Company Principal activities

%

Foshan Nanhai Top Form 
 Underwear Co., Ltd.#

佛山市南海黛麗斯內衣有限公司

The PRC Capital contribution 
	 —	$20,800,000

100 Manufacture of ladies’ underwear

佛山市南海漫多姿內衣有限公司# The PRC Capital contribution 
	 —	US$500,000

100 Manufacture of ladies’ underwear

Grand Gain Industrial Limited
建盈實業有限公司

Hong Kong Ordinary 
	 —	$100,000

60 Moulding and laminating business

Long Nan Grand Gain 
 Underwear Co., Ltd.#

龍南縣建盈內衣有限公司

The PRC Capital contribution 
	 —	US$1,800,000

60 Moulding and laminating business

Long Nan County Top Form 
 Underwear Co., Ltd.#

龍南縣黛麗斯內衣有限公司

The PRC Capital contribution 
	 —	$57,000,000

100 Manufacture of ladies’ underwear

Shenzhen Top Form 
 Underwear Co., Limited^

深圳黛麗斯內衣有限公司

The PRC Capital contribution 
	 —	RMB4,993,000

70 Property investment and provision 
 of consultancy services in 
 relation to ladies intimate 
 apparel and accessories

Top Form Brassiere Mfg. Co., Limited
黛麗斯胸圍製造廠有限公司

Hong Kong Ordinary	—	$100
Deferred	—	$4,000,000

100 Manufacture and trading of 
 ladies’ underwear

Top Form (B.V.I.) Limited* British Virgin Islands Ordinary	—	US$50,000 100 Investment holding
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Name of company

Place of 
incorporation/
registration

Issued share capital/ 
registered capital

Proportion of 
issued ordinary 

share capital/ 
registered capital held 

directly/ indirectly 
by the Company Principal activities

%

Top Form Brassiere (Maesot) Co., Ltd Thailand Ordinary	—	Baht56,000,000 100 Manufacture of ladies’ underwear

Topfull Development Limited
統富發展有限公司

Hong Kong Ordinary	—	$2 100 Property holding in the PRC

Unique Form Manufacturing 
 Company Limited
特麗儂內衣製造廠有限公司

Hong Kong Ordinary	—	$1,000
Deferred	—	$200

100 Trading of ladies’ underwear

Xinfeng County Grand Gain 
 Underwear Co., Ltd.#

信豐縣建盈內衣有限公司

The PRC Capital contribution 
	 —	US$500,000

100 Manufacture of ladies’ underwear

Top Form (Cambodia) 
 Company Limited

Cambodia Ordinary 
	 —	US$1,000,000

100 Manufacture of ladies’ underwear

* Directly held by the Company
# These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises in the PRC.
^	 This	subsidiary	is	registered	as	a	sino-foreign	equity	joint	venture	in	the	PRC.

Note: Except for those subsidiaries with the place of operation mentioned in principal activities, the place of operation is the same as the place of 
incorporation/registration.

Shenzhen Top Form Underwear Co., Limited 深圳黛麗斯內衣有限公司 (“SZTF”) is a joint venture company 
established in the PRC and was originally held for a period of twelve years from 28 February 1987. The Group 
entered into extension agreements with the joint venture partner on 18 September 1998, 12 November 2008, 27 
June 2011, 6 February 2015 and 28 February 2017 to extend the joint venture period for future years to 28 
February 2009, 28 February 2012, 28 February 2015, 28 February 2017 and 28 February 2022 respectively. 
Pursuant to the joint venture agreement and the revised joint venture agreement under which the joint venture 
was established, the Group contributed 70% of the registered capital of SZTF. However, under another agreement 
entered into between the Group and the joint venture partner, the Group is entitled to 100% of this joint venture 
company’s profit after deducting a fixed annual amount attributable to assets contributed by the joint venture 
partner. The Group is entitled to receive its attributable share of the net assets upon liquidation of the joint 
venture, and so this joint venture is being accounted for as a subsidiary of the Group.

As at 30 June 2017, all of the deferred shares issued by subsidiaries were held by group companies. The deferred 
shares carry no right to dividend or to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general meeting of the 
respective	companies.	On	winding-up,	the	holders	of	the	deferred	shares	are	entitled	to	one	half	of	the	remaining	
assets of the respective companies after the first $100 trillion has been distributed equally amongst the holders of 
the ordinary shares.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting as at 30 June 2017 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the 
Group’s assets or results. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in 
particulars of excessive length.

31 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES – continued
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32 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Note 2017 2016
$’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Interests in subsidiaries 871,495 871,495
    

Current assets

Other receivables 146 147
Bank balances 406 640
    

552 787
    

Current liabilities

Creditors and accrued charges 2,722 2,056
Current tax payable 94 84
    

2,816 2,140
    

Net current liabilities (2,264) (1,353)
    

Total assets less current liabilities 869,231 870,142
    

Non-current liabilities
Amount due to a subsidiary 488,937 469,022
    

380,294 401,120
    

Capital and reserves 25(b)

Share capital 107,519 107,519
Reserves 272,775 293,601
    

380,294 401,120
    

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 August 2017.

Wong Chung Chong Wong Kai Chi, Kenneth
Chairman Managing Director
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33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and new 
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2017 and which have not been adopted in these 
financial statements. These include the following which may be relevant to the Group:

Effective for 
accounting periods 

beginning on or after

Annual improvements to HKFRS 2014–2016 cycle 1 January 2017

Amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows: Disclosure initiative 1 January 2017

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes: Recognition of 
 deferred tax assets for unrealised losses 1 January 2017

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments 1 January 2018

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018

HKFRS 16, Leases 1 January 2019

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments and new standards 
is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the Group has identified some aspects of the new 
standards which may have an impact on the consolidated financial statements. Further details of the expected 
impacts are discussed below. As the Group has not completed its assessment, further impacts may be identified in 
due course and will be taken into consideration when determining whether to adopt any of these new 
requirements before their effective date and which transitional approach to take, where there are alternative 
approaches allowed under the new standards.

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 will replace the current standard on accounting for financial instruments, HKAS 39, Financial 
instruments: Recognition and measurement. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for classification and 
measurement of financial assets, calculation of impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. On the other 
hand, HKFRS 9 incorporates without substantive changes the requirements of HKAS 39 for recognition and 
derecognition of financial instruments and the classification of financial liabilities. Expected impacts of the new 
requirements on the Group’s financial statements are as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement

HKFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at (1) amortised 
cost, (2) fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and (3) fair value through other comprehensive income 
(FVTOCI) as follows:

—	 The	classification	for	debt	instruments	is	determined	based	on	the	entity’s	business	model	for	managing	
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. If a debt instrument is 
classified as FVTOCI then effective interest, impairments and gains/losses on disposal will be 
recognised in profit or loss.
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33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 – continued

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments – continued

(a) Classification and measurement – continued

Based on the preliminary assessment, the Group expects that its financial assets currently measured at 
amortised cost will continue with their classification and measurements upon the adoption of HKFRS 9.

The classification and measurement requirements for financial liabilities under HKFRS 9 are largely 
unchanged from HKAS 39, except that HKFRS 9 requires the fair value change of a financial liability 
designated at FVTPL that is attributable to changes of that financial liability’s own credit risk to be 
recognised in other comprehensive income (without reclassification to profit or loss). The Group currently 
does not have any financial liabilities designated at FVTPL and therefore this new requirement may not have 
any impact on the Group on adoption of HKFRS 9.

(b) Impairment

The new impairment model in HKFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with an “expected 
credit loss” model. Under the expected credit loss model, it will no longer be necessary for a loss event to 
occur before an impairment loss is recognised. Instead, an entity is required to recognise and measure 
expected	credit	losses	as	either	12-month	expected	credit	losses	or	lifetime	expected	credit	losses,	depending	
on the asset and the facts and circumstances. This new impairment model may result in an earlier 
recognition of credit losses on the Group’s trade receivables and other financial assets. However, a more 
detailed analysis is required to determine the extent of the impact.

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for recognising revenue from contracts with customers. HKFRS 
15 will replace the existing revenue standards, HKAS 18, Revenue, which covers revenue arising from sale of 
goods and rendering of services, and HKAS 11, Construction contracts, which specifies the accounting for revenue 
from construction contracts. The Group is currently assessing the impacts of adopting HKFRS 15 on its financial 
statements. Based on the preliminary assessment, the Group has not identified any material impacts on its 
consolidated financial statements on adoption of HKFRS 15 to date. Further assessment will be performed.
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33 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS 
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017 – continued

HKFRS 16, Leases

The Group enters into some leases as the lessor and others as the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that lessors account for their rights and obligations 
under a lease.

In respect of lease accounting for lessees, the current policy is set out in note 1(l). Under HKFRS 16, lessees will 
no longer distinguish between finance leases and operating leases. Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees 
will account for all leases in a similar way to current finance lease accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of 
the lease the lessee will recognise and measure lease liability at the present value of the minimum future lease 
payments	and	will	 recognise	a	corresponding	 “right-of-use”	asset.	After	 initial	 recognition	of	 this	 asset	 and	
liability, the lessee will recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and 
the	depreciation	of	 the	 right-of	use	asset,	 instead	of	 the	current	policy	of	 recognising	 rental	expenses	 incurred	
under operating leases on a systematic basis over the lease term. As disclosed in note 27(a), at 30 June 2017, the 
Group’s	future	minimum	lease	payments	under	non-cancellable	operating	leases	amounted	to	$44,359,000.	Most	
of	these	amounts	may	therefore	need	to	be	recognised	as	lease	liabilities,	with	corresponding	right-of-use	assets,	
once HKFRS 16 is adopted.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location Existing use Term of lease

Levels 6 to 8 of Block 523, Industrial Medium Industrial Medium
Bagualing Industrial Zone,
Futian District,
Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC (note 1)

Twenty units on Level 1 of Residential Medium Residential Medium
Bagualing Single Apartment Block 29 (Type B),
Bagua 2nd Road,
Futian District,
Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC (note 1)

Portion A on Level 6 (twelve units on the west) of Residential Medium
Pengji Single Apartment Block 44,
Residential Medium
Bagualing Industrial Zone,
Futian District,
Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC (note 2)

Level 4 of Block 424, Industrial Medium Industrial Medium
Bagualing Industrial Zone,
Bagua 3rd Road,
Futian District,
Shenzhen City,
Guangdong Province,
the PRC (note 3)

Notes:

1. The properties were held for investment purposes at each of the six years ended 30 June 2017.

2. The property was held for investment purposes at each of the five years ended 30 June 2017.

3. The property was held for investment purposes at each of the four years ended 30 June 2017.

4. A property, Workshop Unit 1–3, 14–16 on 13th Floor of Block A, Hang Wai Industrial Centre, No.6 Kin Tai Street, Tuen Mun, New Territories, 
Hong Kong, held for investment purposes at each of the three years ended 30 June 2016, was sold during the year ended 30 June 2017.
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RESULTS

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Year ended 30 June

Revenue 1,054,451 1,131,696 1,170,468 1,179,025 1,126,008
      

Profit/(loss) before taxation (2,417) 45,873 42,127 39,944 8,451
Income tax (expense)/credit (1,627) (6,569) (6,219) (5,660) (2,473)
      

Profit/(loss) for the year (4,044) 39,304 35,908 34,284 5,978
      

Attributable to:
—	Owners	of	the	Company (4,687) 37,026 34,178 32,298 5,397
—	Non-controlling	interests 643 2,278 1,730 1,986 581
      

(4,044) 39,304 35,908 34,284 5,978
      

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 30 June

Total assets 648,532 731,687 762,159 716,097 721,698
Total liabilities (130,166) (154,027) (183,186) (147,264) (165,798)
      

518,366 577,660 578,973 568,833 555,900
      

Equity attributable to:
—	Owners	of	the	Company 499,823 556,955 558,526 557,718 546,020
—	Non-controlling	interests 18,543 20,705 20,447 11,115 9,880
      

518,366 577,660 578,973 568,833 555,900
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